
 City of Brighton 
Planning Commission 

200 N First St ● City Hall Council Chambers ● Brighton, Michigan 48116 ● (810) 227‐1911 

Special Meeting 
Joint Session of Planning Commission and City Council  

February 12, 2024 – 7:00 p.m. 
AGENDA 

1. Call to order/roll

2. Consider approval of agenda

3. Call to the public

4. Comprehensive Master Plan, 5‐year review

5. Call to the public

6. Adjournment



brightoncity.org | 200 North First St. Brighton, MI 48116 | (810) 227‐1911 

City of Brighton 
REPORT FROM THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MANAGER  
FEBRUARY 12, 2024

SUBJECT:   PLANNING COMMISSION / CITY COUNCIL JOINT REVIEW OF THE COMPREHENSIVE MASTER PLAN 

ADMINISTRATIVE SUMMARY 

At  least  every  5  years  after  adoption  of  a  master  plan,  “The  Michigan  Planning  Enabling  Act”  requires  the  planning  
commission  to review  the document  to determine whether  to commence  the procedure  to amend  the master plan or 
adopt a new master plan.  In collaboration with  the city’s planning consultant,  Jill Bahm of Giffels Webster,  the City of 
Brighton  City  Planning  Commission  initiated  a  review  at  their meeting  held  on  September  18,  2023,  and  continued 
dicsussions at their meeting conducted on November 20, 2023.  

The Brighton City Council meeting agenda of November 16, 2023, included a discussion regarding the master plan review 
process. Council members discussed  the plan and  referred  items of  interest  to  the Planning Commission  for  review. A 
joint meeting was also discussed and set by City Council at their January 9, 2024, meeting. 

The following has occurred with the Planning Commission’s review thus far: 

• September 2023:
The Planning Commission received an extensive report from Jill Bahm regarding the review process of the master 
plan.

• September 18, 2023:
The Planning Commission initiated the review process.

• November 16, 2023:
The Planning Commission received a follow‐up memo from Jill Bahm regarding their discussion from the  initial 
meeting.

• November 20, 2023:
The Planning Commission continued discussion regarding the master plan.

The following are items of interest discussed by City Council at their November 16, 2023 meeting: 

 Density of multi‐family districts,

 Lot coverage in residential districts,

 Updates to the zoning map – possible change for certain areas,

 Clarity of language throughout the plan, i.e. “adjacent” etc.,

 Height limits in the Downtown Business District,

 Determine if current Goals and Objectives of the plan have been met,

 Accessory structures in residential zoning districts,

 Short‐term rentals,

 Define boundaries within the plan.



brightoncity.org | 200 North First St. Brighton, MI 48116 | (810) 227‐1911 

City of Brighton 
REPORT FROM THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT MANAGER  
FEBRUARY 12, 2024

Prepared by:   Michael Caruso, Community Development Manager 

Attachments:   
1. Consultant Report to Planning Commission

2. Planning Commission Minutes – 09/18/2023

3. Consultant Follow‐up Memo

4. Planning Commission Minutes – 11/20/2023



Comprehensive Plan Review
City of BRighton

September 2023



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review 

      2 September 2023

This page has been left intentionally blank.



      3

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

 

table of Contents 
introduction  ...........................................................................  5

Existing Conditions  ...............................................................  6
Regional Influences  ................................................................................  7
Demographics  ........................................................................................  8
Housing  ..................................................................................................  10
Employment  ...........................................................................................  13
Transportation  ........................................................................................  14
Land Use  ................................................................................................  15

Master Land Use Plan  ..........................................................  17
Purpose  ..................................................................................................  17
Goals & Objectives  .................................................................................  18
Future Land Uses in Neighboring Communities  ....................................  24
Future Land Use Plan  ............................................................................  29
Redevelopment Sites  .............................................................................  34

Complete Streets Plan  ..........................................................  35
Goals & Objectives  .................................................................................  37
Sidewalks  ...............................................................................................  38
Shared Use Pathways  ............................................................................  40
Roadway Facilities  .................................................................................  40

Downtown Plan  .....................................................................  44
What is Working and What Needs Work  ................................................  44
Goals and Objectives  .............................................................................  45
Downtown Design  ..................................................................................  46
Downtown Land Use  ..............................................................................  46
Redevelopment Sites  .............................................................................  47
Physical Environment  .............................................................................  49
Open Space  ...........................................................................................  53
Parking  ...................................................................................................  53

Recreation Plan  .....................................................................  54
Parks and Recreation Inventory  .............................................................  55
Recreational Needs Analysis  .................................................................  58
Goals, Objectives, and Action Strategies  ..............................................  59

implementation  .....................................................................  61

next Steps  .............................................................................  73



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review 

      4 September 2023

List of Maps

List of figures

List of tables

Map 1. Hamburg Township: Future Land Use, 2020  ...........................................................  25
Map 2. Genoa Township: Future Land Use, 2023  ...............................................................  26
Map 3. Brighton Township: Future Land Use, 2020  ............................................................  27
Map 4. Green Oak Township: Future Land Use, 2014  .........................................................  28
Map 5. Brighton: Future Land Use Map  .............................................................................  30
Map 6. Brighton: Current Zoning Map  ...............................................................................  33
Map 7. Brighton: Existing Sidewalk Network, 2021  ............................................................  39
Map 8. Brighton: Proposed Bike Connections Plan, 2018  .................................................  41
Map 9. Regional Non-Motorized Pathway Plan, 2018  ........................................................  42
Map 10. Regional Parks, 2018  ............................................................................................  56
Map 11. Brighton: Local Parks, 2018  ..................................................................................  57
Map 12. Brighton: Ten-Minute Walk to Park Radius, 2018  ..................................................  59

Figure 1. Projected Population by Age Cohort, 2020 - 2050  ..............................................  8
Figure 2. Total Residential Building Permits, 2000 - 2023  ..................................................  11
Figure 3. Residential Building Permits Breakdown by Type, 2000 - 2023  ..........................  11
Figure 4. Brighton: Home Values, 2000 - 2023  ...................................................................  12
Figure 5. Brighton: Total Crashes, 2017 - 2021  ...................................................................  14
Figure 6. Surrounding Communities: Projected Population Change, 2020 - 2050  ............  24
Figure 7. Benefits of Complete Streets & Related Strategies  .............................................  36
Figure 8. Brighton: Downtown Concept Plan, 2018  ...........................................................  49
Figure 9. Downtown Concept Plan, Pierce Passage, 2018  .................................................  51
Figure 10. Downtown Concept Plan, Precedent Images - Passages, 2018  .......................  51

Table 1. Brighton and Region: Population, 2020 - 2050  .....................................................  7
Table 2. Brighton and Region: Median Age, 2010 - 2021  ...................................................  8
Table 3. Brighton: Race, 2010 - 2020  .................................................................................  8
Table 4. Brighton: Households, 2020 - 2050  ......................................................................  9
Table 5. Brighton and Region: Educational Attainment, 2010 - 2021  .................................  9
Table 6. Brighton: Housing, 2015 - 2021  ............................................................................  10
Table 7. Brighton: Jobs by Industry Section, 2019 - 2050  ...................................................  13
Table 8. Brighton: Crash Severity, 2017 - 2021  ...................................................................  14
Table 9. Brighton: Crashes by Type, 2017 - 2021  ................................................................  14
Table 10. Brighton: Existing Land Use, 2015 - 2020  ...........................................................  15
Table 11. Implementation Action Strategy Types  ................................................................  61
Table 12. Quality and Variety of Housing Action Strategies, 2018  ......................................  62
Table 13. Community Identity Action Strategies, 2018  .......................................................  64
Table 14. Environmental Stewardship Action Strategies, 2018  ...........................................  66
Table 15. Infrastructure and Civic Spaces Action Strategies, 2018  ....................................  68
Table 16. Economic Development Action Strategies, 2018  ................................................  70



      5

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Introduction

This Comprehensive Plan Review represents an opportunity to affirm and update the course for new development and redevelopment 

in the City of Brighton as identified and described in the 2018 Comprehensive Plan. The plan included the future vision, goals, 

objectives, and strategies for the City of Brighton, and included a Master Land Use Plan, Downtown Plan, Complete Streets 

Plan, and Parks and Recreation Plan. The Comprehensive Plan is intended to guide future decision-making processes related 

to land use and development in Brighton, as well as overall community quality of life. 

This Comprehensive Plan Review is intended to provide the Planning Commission and City Council with an understanding of 

what changes have occurred since the last Comprehensive Plan in 2018. The findings may be used to develop a scope of work 

for an update to the Comprehensive Plan, as appropriate. 

Within each section, the following guides may be included: “Questions to Consider” and “Opportunities for an Update.” 

Questions to Consider

Questions for the Planning Commission to consider 

while reading the text as to whether the findings suggest 

changes should be made to the Master Land Use Plan. 

introduction

opportunities for an Update

“Opportunities for an Update” offer some suggestions 

to guide the Planning Commission in this planning 

process. Changes may include updates to the Future 

Land Use Map, descriptions of land use categories and/

or implementation strategies.  

guide to this report



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      6 September 2023

This chapter includes an abridged update to the Existing Conditions chapter included within the Appendix of the 2018 

Comprehensive Plan. Previously, in 2018, the chapter included the following sections:

• Regional Setting

• Regional Influences

• Planning in Neighboring Communities (in this review, discussed in the Future Land Uses in Neighboring Communities

section of the Master Land Use Plan chapter)

• Demographics

• Housing

• Employment

• Natural Features (presumed to be consistent with the 2018 plan)

• Transportation

• Existing Land Use

The Appendix also included Market Study and Public Input chapters.

Existing Conditions

Questions to Consider

1. Are additional updates to the city’s existing conditions not covered in this chapter valuable or needed?

2. Does the 2018 Comprehensive Plan adequately provide for housing, transportation, and other choices, particularly

for aging residents?

3. Should an update to the 2018 Comprehensive Plan address the COVID-19 pandemic and some of the resulting

impacts it has had (e.g., the shift to remote work, housing supply shortages, infrastructure investments) as well as

other trends like an aging population, extreme weather events, and the rise of internet sales? Is more specific data

needed to understand where the city currently is and where it is projected to be?



      7

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Existing Conditions

Regional influences
Population. Brighton and its surrounding communities are all expected to experience double-digit population growth from 

2020 to 2050.

table 1. Brighton and Region: Population, 2020 - 2050

Community
2010 

Population
2020 

Population
SEMCog 2050 

Projection
Change 2015 - 

2020
Change 2020 - 

2050

City of Brighton 7,444 7,446 9,909 -1.4% 33.1%

Brighton Township 17,791 19,144 22,953 5.2% 19.9%

Green Oak Township 17,476 19,539 26,127 8.5% 33.7%

Hamburg Township 21,165 21,259 23,616 -0.7% 11.1%

Genoa Township 19,821 20,692 26,429 3.7% 27.7%

Livingston County 180,967 193,866 238,137 3.5% 22.8%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile

The Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 

projects significant growth in Livingston County. This 

dramatic increase for the City of Brighton should be viewed 

conservatively and may be worth additional research with 

a Master Plan update. Nevertheless, the senior population 

growth is consistent with past trends, both locally and 

nationally.

From 2010 to 2021 (American Community Survey 5-Year 

Estimates), the age 65 and over population has increased 

from 13 percent to 16.3 percent, while the age 85 and over 

population now makes up 20 percent of the population (up 

from 19 percent).  By 2050, SEMCOG projects the cohorts 

will reach 21.5 percent and 4.5 percent respectively. For a 

detailed look at regional population change, see Figure 1. 

Economy. The county continues to be a service-based 

economy, with a significant presence in information and 

financial activities, retail trade, leisure and hospitality as 

well as professional and technical services and corporate 

jobs—all of which are expected to experience further 

growth into 2050. Manufacturing jobs are also still in 

decline, with some small growth expected in the next 5 to 

10 years before reverting to decline from 2035 to 2050. 

In 2021, the median household income in Livingston 

County was reported to be $88,908, a notable increase 

from $76,764 in 2016 (in 2021 dollars when adjusted for 

inflation). The county has the highest median household 

income of any county in Michigan. The high overall income 

levels in the county present opportunities for Brighton, as 

a key hub for social, cultural, educational, recreational, and 

commercial activities

Land Use. Since the last Comprehensive Plan, Livingston 

County has experienced a significant shift in the ways that land 

is being used, particularly with respect to housing. Although 

the Southeast Michigan Council of Governments (SEMCOG) 

methodology for determining land use has changed since the 

last Comprehensive Plan, the new methodology indicated 

that between 2015 and 2020 there was an increase in both 

single-family (+1,176 acres, +3%) and multi-family housing 

(+56.3 acres, 8.6% increase), with a decline in attached 

condo housing (-46.2 acres, -20.50%) in Livingston County. 

In addition, there was an increase in the medical land use 

category (+78.4 acres, +22.2%) during this period. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      8 September 2023

Demographics

Population
According to the 2020 Decennial Census, Brighton had 7,446 residents, compared to a population of 7,444 in 2010, a net 

increase of just 2 people.

table 2. Brighton and Region: Median Age, 2010 - 2021

Community 2010 2021
Change 

2010 - 2020 
(%)

City of Brighton 43.4 45.4 4.6%

Livingston County 40.9 43.6 6.6%

Southeast Michigan 38.7 39.0 0.8%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile

The city’s 65-84 cohort is projected to increase from 1,565 to 2,116 in 2030 and 2,124 in 2040 before declining slightly to 1,853, 

diverging from regional trends, but the 85+ cohort is projected to grow steadily.

table 3. Brighton: Race, 2010 - 2020

Community 2010 2020
Change 

2010 - 2020 
(%)

Population 7,444 7,446 0.0%

Race - white alone (count)  7,032 6,815 -2.9%

Race - white alone (percent) 94.5% 91.5%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile

Despite the slight decline in population from 2010 to 2020 according to the Decennial Census, Brighton is becoming slightly 

more diverse, though still predominantly white.

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

4,500

5,000

Under 5 5-17 18-24 25-64 65-84 85+

2020 2030 2040 2050

figure 1. Projected Population by Age Cohort, 2020 - 2050

Source: SEMCOG Regional Forecast



      9

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Existing Conditions

households
Although there has been significant growth in the surrounding region, Brighton’s population has remained relatively stagnant 

over the last decade. Southeast Michigan has seen a 25.3 percent increase in households with seniors and a -3.9 percent 

decrease in households without seniors from 2010 to 2021, compared to 4.1 percent and -1.9 percent, respectively, in the 

city over the same period.

Meanwhile, households with a senior resident living alone has increased by 25.5 percent in the region, but Brighton has seen 

a decrease of -21.2 percent. However, fewer households comprising two or more people with children and more households 

without is a trend that Brighton shares with the region.

table 4. Brighton: households, 2020 - 2050

household types
2010 

Census
2021 
ACS

Change 2010 - 2021

With Seniors 65+ 1,152 1,199 47 4.1%

Without Seniors 2,451 2,404 47 1.9%

Live alone, 65+ 712 562 -150 -21.1%

Live alone, <65 826 819 -7 -0.8%

2+ Persons, With children 803 669 -134 -16.7%

2+ persons, Without children 1,262 1,553 291 23.1%

Total Households 3,603  3,603 0 0.0%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile

Education
Educational attainment has improved across the board in Brighton, county, and the region since 2016, with the city seeing nearly 

half of residents over the age of 25 with at least a bachelor’s degree.

table 5. Brighton and Region: Educational Attainment, 2010 - 2021

highest Level of Education (25+)
Brighton Livingston County Michigan

2010 2021 2010 2021 2010 2021

Bachelor's Degree or Higher 31.0% 47.0% 28.2% 37.8% 21.8% 31.7%

Did Not Graduate High School 8.8% 6.5% 8.6% 4.1% 16.6% 8.0%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      10 September 2023

housing
Despite SEMCOG’s efforts to make existing land use 

data in the region more detailed, housing units data 

has become less so since the existing conditions were 

developed for the 2018 Comprehensive Plan, with 

townhomes and attached condos now grouped together 

in multi-unit housing. Table 6, which is derived from 

SEMCOG’s analysis of Census data, shows the percent 

share of single unit and multi-unit housing appears to be 

fairly steady between 2015 and 2021.

SEMCOG collects and publishes residential building permit 

information for all communities in Southeast Michigan. New 

construction and demolition information are collected for 

single family, two-family, condominium, and multi-family/

apartment units. Building permits over the past five years 

have been consistent—outside of the approval of the Vista 

at Uptown 235-unit apartment complex on the Millpond in 

2022, as seen in Figure 2—with a net total of a thousand 

permits issues in the last two decades. Figure 3. Residential 

Building Permits Breakdown by Type, 2000 - 2023 illustrates 

the breakdown of building permits by housing type, according 

to SEMCOG data.

SEMCOG defines the four residential building types as follows:

• Single-Family: A free-standing, detached building

with only one housing unit. Includes single-family

homes, detached condominiums, and manufactured

homes not located within a manufactured housing

park.

• Two-Family: A duplex, two-family flat, or condo with

two units per structure and not considered to be a

townhouse or attached condominium.

• Townhouse/Attached Condos: Townhouses or

condominiums that are attached; units can be either

side-by-side or above/below each other and each

unit has a separate heating system, utility meter, and

direct outside entrance.’

• Multi-Family: A residential building that contains

three or more housing units, not considered to be a

townhouse or attached condo, and usually has one

entrance from the outside and a common hall (e.g.,

an apartment building).

Most permits have resulted in new attached condo dwelling 

units, with some single-family units, with no permits for two-

family or multi-family units from 2000 to 2021.

table 6. Brighton: housing, 2015 - 2021

housing Characteristic 2015 2021
2021 

Percent 
share

Change 
2015 - 2021

Total housing units 4,112 3,858 -254

   Single unit 1,705 1,662 43.1% -43

   Multi-unit 2,358 2,196 56.9% -162

   Mobile homes or other 49 0 0.0% -49

Owner-occupied 2,224 2,356 61.1% 132

Renter-occupied 1,481 1,247 32.3% -234

Vacant 207 255 6.6% 48

Median housing value (in 2021 dollars) $195,839 $245,400 $49,561

Median gross rent (in 2021 dollars) $979 $1,068 $89

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile



      11

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Existing Conditions

figure 2. total Residential Building Permits, 2000 - 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

Total Units

Source: SEMCOG Development

Note: Permit data for most recent years may be incomplete and is updated monthly. Data obtained November 2022.

figure 3. Residential Building Permits Breakdown by type, 2000 - 2023

76.2%

48.9%

58.4%

52.7%

38.1%

7.4%

100.0%

2.4%

7.7%

33.3%

66.7%

59.1%

15.4%

7.7%

16.7%

29.4%

28.6%

12.5%

17.6%

7.7%

56.7%

8.5%

80.0%

23.8%

51.1%

41.6%

47.3%

61.9%

92.6%

97.6%

92.3%

100.0%

66.7%

33.3%

40.9%

84.6%

92.3%

83.3%

70.6%

71.4%

87.5%

82.4%

92.3%

43.3%

8.8% 82.7%

20.0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

Single Family Two Family Attach Condo Multi Family

Source: SEMCOG Development

Note: Permit data for most recent years may be incomplete and is updated monthly. Data obtained August 2023.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      12 September 2023

Elsewhere in the region and throughout the U.S., a rise in 

multi-family dwellings is a common trend. According to the 

National Multifamily Housing Council, the housing market 

needs 4.6 million apartments by 2030 to keep up with 

demand.1 This 2018 report notes that both Baby Boomers 

and Millennials, who together comprise 100 million households 

are creating an increased demand for rental housing.

However, housing costs continue to increase. Though the 

Census reports median housing values at $245,400 in 2021, 

housing data from the Census tends to lag behind the real 

estate market. Three of the main real estate listing platforms 

provide the following data on the competitive Brighton 

housing market:

• According to Zillow, as of August 31, 2023, the

average Brighton home value is $403,144, up 2.6%

over the past year and goes to pending in around 7

days. Figure 4 shows how home values in Brighton

have changed since 2000 using the Zillow Home

Value Index (ZHVI), a measure of the typical home

value and market changes across a given region

and housing type which reflects the typical value for

homes in the 35th to 65th percentile range.

• According to Redfin, in July 2023, Brighton home

prices were up 2.8% compared to last year, selling

for a median price of $329K. On average, homes in

1  Apartment Supply Shortage (2018): https://www.nmhc.org/
contentassets/0662d3fe113046bb89019d0dfabfb271/apartment_
supply_shortage_2018_08_fact_sheet.pdf

figure 4. Brighton: home Values, 2000 - 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

20
20

20
21

20
22

Total Units

Source: Zillow

Brighton sell after 8 days on the market compared to 

9 days last year. There were 21 homes sold in July 

this year, down from 27 last year.

• According to Rocket Homes, in August 2023, the

median sold price of homes is $399,722 based on

all homes sold in the last 12 months, which is a

+$78,442 (+24.4%) difference since August 2022.

Along with high demand, supply of for-sale existing homes 

in Southeast Michigan was at record lows in 2021, and with 

increased costs, supply chain delays, and skilled trade labor 

shortages as well as rising inflation and mortgage rates, 

housing affordability is a major concern.2

The Urban Land Institute defines “attainable” housing 

as “nonsubsidized, for-sale housing that is affordable to 

households with incomes between 80 and 120 percent of 

the area median income (AMI).” A widely accepted rule of 

thumb is to spend a maximum of 30% of a household’s 

income on housing costs; this should be considered along 

with transportation costs, typically a household’s next 

highest expense. According to the Center for Neighborhood 

Technology, the total housing and transportation costs for 

the City of Brighton are 61 percent (34 percent on housing, 

27 percent on transportation. In comparison, in Southeast 

Michigan, households spend 25 percent of income on housing 

and 22 percent on transportation.

2  Residential Construction in Southeast Michigan, 2021 (2022): https://
maps.semcog.org/residentialconstruction/



      13

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Existing Conditions

Employment
SEMCOG provides information on top employment sectors in the city as the Southeast Michigan region. Healthcare services, 

hospitality, and retail trade are strong in the city, with the latter expected to decline in the next 30 years.

table 7. Brighton: Jobs by industry Section, 2019 - 2050

forecasted Jobs By industry Sector 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050
Change 
2019-
2050

Pct 
Change 
2019-
2050

Natural Resources, Mining, & Construction 436 692 732 764 758 750 754 297 65%

Manufacturing 1,085 1,265 1,292 1,251 1,182 1,130 1,102 -53 -4.60%

Wholesale Trade 283 303 305 314 305 302 294 -6 -2%

Retail Trade 1,774 1,909 1,865 1,794 1,723 1,663 1,601 -260 -14%

Transportation, Warehousing, & Utilities 213 239 238 236 236 234 240 32 15.40%

Information & Financial Activities 1,492 1,569 1,655 1,685 1,703 1,731 1,768 238 15.60%

Professional and Technical Services & Corporate HQ 1,073 1,079 1,119 1,155 1,170 1,183 1,209 176 17%

Administrative, Support, & Waste Services 376 391 421 446 459 475 490 116 31%

Education Services 391 356 365 376 384 386 385 -23 -5.60%

Healthcare Services 2,213 2,433 2,448 2,451 2,552 2,658 2,811 351 14.30%

Leisure & Hospitality 1,656 2,192 2,355 2,472 2,552 2,552 2,524 455 22%

Other Services 636 687 703 708 716 722 722 62 9.40%

Public Administration 185 210 223 233 242 242 240 47 24.40%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      14 September 2023

transportation

traffic Safety
The 2018 Comprehensive Plan Appendix’s Transportation 

section included  information about road classifications and 

a Traffic Crash Report for the years 2014, 2015, and 2016.

An updated Traffic Crash report is provided below, which 

generally shows proportionally fewer crashes from the five-year 

period between 2017 and 2021 as the preceding three-year 

period provided in the 2018 plan.

figure 5. Brighton: total Crashes, 2017 - 2021

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Source: SEMCOG 

Additional information related to transportation was available 

in the Complete Streets chapter of the 2018 Comprehensive 

Plan. This data was sourced from a study completed by 

the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration and the 

Insurance Institute for Highway Safety, the Centers for Disease 

Control and Prevention (CDC) , U.S. Census Bureau, and 

SEMCOG provided context on the basis for Complete Streets: 

safety, inactive lifestyles, disabilities, and aging population 

and limited mobility.

table 8. Brighton: Crash Severity, 2017 - 2021

Severity type 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Fatal 1 0 0 0 0

Serious Injury 1 4 0 1 3

Other Injury 55 48 57 42 39

Property Damage Only 321 318 320 212 264

Total Crashes 378 370 377 255 306

Source: SEMCOG

table 9. Brighton: Crashes by type, 2017 - 2021

type 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Head-On 2 0 5 3 3

Angle or Head-on/ Left-Turn 81 69 66 45 59

Rear-End 147 149 136 92 116

Sideswipe 84 70 88 45 61

Single Vehicle 45 62 65 61 48

Backing 6 10 9 7 13

Other or Unknown 13 10 8 2 6

Source: SEMCOG



      15

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Existing Conditions

Land Use
With the change in SEMCOG’s land use methodology, as noted when discussing Livingston County’s existing land use, the city 

also has a more nuanced breakdown of its existing land uses (as seen in Table 10).

The county has primarily agricultural/rural residential land, but Brighton has almost none. Compared to many communities in the 

region which are characterized by single-family residential, the city has a smaller share and a broader of mix of different types of 

land uses. As the city is largely built out, changes in land use from 2015 to 2020 have been minimal.

table 10. Brighton: Existing Land Use, 2015 - 2020

Parcel Land Use Acres 2015 Acres 2020
Change 

2015-2020
Pct Change 
2015-2020

Percent of 
total Land Use 

2020

Single-Family Residential 466.1 466.9 0.8 0.20% 19.9%

Recreational/Open Space 311.9 311.9 0 0% 13.3%

Vacant 288.4 282.3 -6.1 -2.10% 12.0%

Retail 166.3 168.5 2.2 1.30% 7.2%

Institutional 137.7 131.1 -6.6 -4.80% 5.6%

Industrial 120.7 120.7 0 0% 5.1%

Water 90.7 90.7 0 0% 3.9%

Office 92 89.4 -2.6 -2.80% 3.8%

Multi-Family Housing 83.2 73.1 -10.1 -12.10% 3.1%

Cemetery 43.3 43.3 0 0% 1.8%

Hospitality 35 43.1 8.1 23.20% 1.8%

Medical 39.1 41.1 2 5% 1.8%

Attached Condo Housing 39.2 40.3 1.1 2.70% 1.7%

TCU 38 38 0 0% 1.6%

Parking 14.6 14.6 0 0% 0.6%

Mixed Use 0 11.3 11.3 - 0.5%

Agricultural/Rural Residential 3 3 0 0% 0.1%

Mobile Home 2.9 2.9 0 0% 0.1%

Golf Course 0 0 0 0% 0.0%

Extractive 0 0 0 0% 0.0%

Not Parceled 373 373 0 0% 15.9%

Total 2,345.30 2,345.30 0 0% 100.0%

Source: SEMCOG Community Profile



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewExisting Conditions

      16 September 2023

opportunities for an Update

 The Planning Commission may wish to consider how market and demographic trends have impacted the city’s 

development pattern and land use composition, and whether this prompts changes to any of the plans within the 

Comprehensive Plan. In particular, data on population makeup by age group, projected population, and housing types 

may necessitate a need for refinement to the Comprehensive Plan, and particularly overall plan goals and respective 

objectives.

An update of the Comprehensive Plan could include a focused look at land use, in conjunction with impervious surface 

coverage and development limitations, to develop strategies to reduce flooding, improve water quality, and mitigate the 

impacts of significant weather events (such as extreme temperatures and precipitation).

A Comprehensive Plan update should also review the breakdown of uses and consider whether there are too many or 

too few of certain use categories. For example, 12% of parcels in the city are vacant—along with other parcels that may 

have a high likelihood for redevelopment, an update may introduce opportunities to have future development meet city 

goals. During the update, the overall use breakdown should also be reviewed to consider where it would be appropriate 

to phase-out or expand use categories.



      17

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

Master Land Use Plan
This chapter includes a recap of the Master Land Use Plan’s goals and objectives. The goals of the Master Land Use Plan guide 

all of the planning documents included in the Comprehensive Plan. Observations and opportunities start and end the sections 

in this chapter, with additional questions to consider alongside each goal, all of which are intended to prompt discussion.

Purpose
A Master Land Use Plan (or Master Plan) addresses 

future land uses, community development, and 

other community features in a coordinated fashion. 

It should provide a clear statement of community 

goals and objectives, establish a vision of the future, 

and include plans to achieve the vision. If followed 

carefully, the Master Land Use Plan will have a 

lasting impact on the built and natural environment. 

Decisions made when the plan is developed will likely 

be implemented over short-term, medium-term, and 

long-term timelines as specified in an Implementation 

Plan.

The Master Land Use Plan is long-range in its view 

and is intended to guide development over a period 

of 10 to 20 years, with reviews and any necessary 

updates occurring every five years to maintain 

consistency with the Michigan Planning Enabling 

Act of 2008. The information and concepts presented 

in the Master Land Use Plan are used to guide local 

decisions on public and private uses of land and the 

provision of public facilities and services. A sound 

Master Land Use Plan promotes a land use pattern 

that reflects a community’s goals. It establishes 

long-range general policies that can be continually 

referred to in decision-making.

Relationship between the Master Land Use Plan 
and Zoning ordinance

the Master Land Use Plan is not an ordinance, it does not 

change the zoning of anyone’s property, and it does not have 

the force of law. It is a set of policies and strategies to enhance and 

improve  as well as guide new development in a community over a 

long planning horizon. 

Zoning is a regulatory mechanism for controlling how land is 

used. it has the force of law. The Zoning Ordinance controls land 

uses based on today’s conditions.

While the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map regulate how land 

is developed, the Master Land Use Plan and its maps and policy 

statements are intended to guide land use decision-making for 10-to-

20 years. The Master Land Use Plan is a community’s “vision,” while 

the zoning ordinance provides the rules that shape development to 

that vision. State law requires that the Zoning Ordinance be based 

on a plan. Therefore, the Master Land Use Plan forms the basis upon 

which zoning decisions are made. With a valid Master Land Use Plan 

in place, zoning decisions consistent with the plan and ordinance are 

presumed by the courts to be valid. 

In addition, the recommendations of the Master Land Use Plan have 

a long-range planning horizon and do not necessarily imply that short-

range rezoning is appropriate. However, many of the recommendations, 

goals, and objectives in the Master Land Use Plan can be aided by 

amendments to the Zoning Ordinance. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      18 September 2023

Questions to Consider

1. To what degree have the goals, objectives, and

strategies been met since the plan was adopted?

Which goals and objectives have been achieved?

2. Are there any goals and objectives that are no

longer relevant or that require modification to meet

changing or new conditions in the community?

3. Are there any new goals that the plan does not

address? What objectives and strategies can help

accomplish these goals?

4. Would developing  a set of performance indicators

be helpful towards the city’s successful progress

towards plan goals?

goals & objectives
What are goals, objectives, and Action items?

The 2018 Master Land Use Plan defines these as:

Goals: Goals are general guidelines that explain what the community wants to achieve. 

Goals are usually long-term and represent global visions, such as “protect the city’s 

natural resources.” Goals define the “what” but not the “how.”

Objectives: Objectives identify the milestones that mark progress in achieving goals- 

more of the “how.” For example, the goal of the “protect the city’s natural resources” 

could be measured in terms of “maintain the city’s tree cover.”

Action Items: Action items are more specific and define the steps to accomplish 

objectives and attain the identified goals- these could be considered the “who” and 

the “when.” The most effective action  strategies will include who will tackle that task 

and when it should be accomplished.

Performance indicators

Performance indicators: Performance indications are 

the various measurable metrics that help communities 

chart a path towards meeting objectives. If the objective 

is, “maintain the Township’s tree cover,” a performance 

indicator would be percentage of total canopy. 

Communities should evaluate performance indicators 

periodically (annually or as data is available) to assess 

trends.

In some cases, new tools will need to be developed to 

help gauge success. This can allow a community to see 

how improvements are occurring, incrementally over time. 

Further, being able to show improvement helps maintain 

momentum and garner support from the community as 

well as appointed and elected officials.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      19 September 2023

Questions to Consider

1. Does the current housing supply meet the needs of and demand in the

community? If not, what new housing types would be desirable for Brighton

residents and where should they be permitted or restricted?

2. Where should residential growth be encouraged? Where should it be

discouraged?

3. What impact has the recent adoption of the R5 Zoning District had on housing

in Brighton? How has this new zoning helped the city progress towards its

goals/objectives?

Ensure the availability of a wide range of attractive housing choices for 
residents of all ages. Connect  housing with neighborhood commercial 
goods and services while protecting residents from noise, traffic, 
and other impacts of non-residential development. Encourage the 
preservation, maintenance, and renovation of older homes in the city.

objectives:

a. Downtown. Add a variety of new medium- to high-density housing units in and near

downtown that encourage and support walkable access to downtown commercial

goods and services

b. Existing Housing.

i. Support healthy communities by improving connectivity and access to green

space in existing neighborhoods.

i. Maintain structurally safe and attractive housing choices and safe

neighborhoods.

ii. Maintain existing housing stock and related infrastructure.

iii. Ensure adequate housing options are available to allow residents to “age in

community.”

c. Transition areas. Provide and maintain buffers between non-residential and

residential development that protect residents from noise, light, and other impacts

of commercial and industrial development.

goal 1: Quality and Variety of housing



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      20 September 2023

Questions to Consider

1. Following investments in the downtown streetscape, what other key priorities

does the city have to enhance vibrancy and build off of local successes achieved

in downtown?

2. What new programming has been established that highlights Brighton’s character? 

What new programming could be implemented to strengthen community pride

and identity?

3. The Zoning Ordinance was updated in 2019 with new form-based code standards

for downtown Brighton. What, if any, additional design standards are needed to

further improve the aesthetics of downtown?

Recognize that the city’s identity is largely based on its downtown. 
Encourage civic, social, and cultural activities, support downtown 
businesses, and promote the development of additional housing to 
strengthen not only downtown, but also the city’s identity. Ensure the 
city’s residential areas and downtown are well-connected via motorized 
and non-motorized transportation options. Maintain a standard of 
high-quality design and materials on new and redeveloped buildings 
throughout the city.

objectives

a. Foster the identity of the city as a distinctive, attractive, vibrant community with a

strong sense of place.

b. Enhance gateways to the city and downtown, especially along Grand River Avenue.

c. Support downtown businesses by providing adequate parking, clear wayfinding

signage, and attractive streetscape.

d. Maintain quality architecture and design throughout the city.

e. Maintain the strong cultural presence and identity of the city by partnering with a

variety of groups to preserve historic structures and creating gathering places for

residents and community activities.

f. Adopt a form-based code for downtown that promotes the historical development

pattern, maintains a continuous street wall within blocks, and requires ground floor

spaces to include design elements that enhance the pedestrian experience.

g. Maintain and expand support for the arts and cultural resources in the city.

goal 2: Community identity



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      21 September 2023

Questions to Consider

1. What has the city done since 2018 to prioritize conservation/preservation of

land, trees, watersheds, and wildlife? Where should the city focus these efforts

in the future? What tools and resources can the city implement to maintain/

expand its conservation preservation efforts?

2. Has the city adopted new standards to better align with Best Management

Practices for stormwater? How can the city better encourage low impact

development and improved stormwater management?

3. How have recreation opportunities been increased in the city?

Maintain public and private stewardship of the natural environment 
through the preservation of open space, protection of woodlands 
and wetlands, and utilization of low-impact development techniques. 
Educate residents and business owners about the long-term value of 
the city’s natural resources. Maintain a balance between the economy, 
the environment, and the community to ensure sustainable development 
that meets the needs of today while ensuring the needs of future 
generations can be met. 

objectives:

a. Provide resources and guidelines for the development and application of solar,

wind, and other alternative energies.

b. Protect, enhance, and restore the city’s woodlands, wetlands, water features,

habitats, and open space.

c. Improve storm water management using best management practices; establish

appropriate standards for the community in coordination with the Livingston County

Drain Commission.

d. Promote and communicate sustainability concepts and incentivize residents and

businesses to implement relevant strategies.

e. Increase recreational opportunities in the city, especially within neighborhoods.

f. Encourage energy-efficient and environmentally sustainable development through

raising awareness and creating standards that support best practices.

goal 3: Environmental Stewardship



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      22 September 2023

Goal

Questions to Consider

1. How has the capital improvement plan (CIP) helped direct capital projects since

the 2018 Master Plan? What capital projects are included in the CIP for the

next 6 years?

2. In addition to the Downtown Streetscape project and other street/sidewalk

repairs, what other transportation improvements and non-motorized

connections have been made since the 2018 plan? What transportation

improvements and non-motorized connections are needed to reduce

congestion, enhance safety, and promote multi-modal options for connectivity?

3. The city has made many investments in public facilities since the 2018 Master

Plan. What additional public facility needs remain unsatisfied?

invest wisely in ongoing maintenance and improvements to existing 
infrastructure, including utilities and the transportation network. Maintain 
civic spaces, including city hall and recreation facilities. Ensure that 
new development minimizes the demands placed on the city’s existing 
infrastructure. Support the city’s entire transportation network through 
the development and enhancement of non-motorized transportation 
facilities and amenities.

objectives

a. Provide a network that accommodates a variety of transportation choices for users

of all ages, including facilities for motorized and non-motorized transportation.

b. Apply low-impact development standards for new development and

redevelopment.

c. Ensure civic spaces are well-maintained.

d. Ensure utilities and other infrastructure are well-maintained by following and

updating the city’s capital improvement plan.

goal 4: infrastructure and Civic Spaces



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      23 September 2023

Questions to Consider

1. What types of process improvements and regulatory flexibility have been

implemented to enhance the development review process? What additional

improvements are necessary?

2. What new partnerships between the public and private sector have been

established since the 2018 plan? How can the city continue to foster these

relationships to leverage desired outcomes for city residents and business

owners?

3. Should the Planning Commission pursue the creation of any new zoning

districts to encourage the type of development outcomes desired? What

flexible zoning tools can be applied to encourage innovation and economic

development?

Maintain a vibrant and strong local economy by supporting current and 
new businesses. Build upon strengths that make Brighton an attractive 
community for business development. nurture businesses downtown, 
in the east and west grand River corridors, and industrial areas.

objectives

a. Regulate for site and building design that offers flexibility in redevelopment and is

adaptable to new trends and technologies.

b. Create development review processes that are consistent, predictable, fair and cost

effective.

c. Encourage and nurture start-up and growing businesses.

d. Develop links and programs with institutes of higher learning.

e. Review zoning ordinance to provide for flex space that is adaptable to innovation.

goal 5: Economic Development

opportunities for an Update

Five years have lapsed since the City of Brighton collected input on the Master Land Use Plan and the city’s long-

term vision. Since this time, the city has experienced changes locally and within the region. The Covid pandemic also 

impacted how people live, work, shop, and interact in the community. New outreach and engagement with residents and 

businesses may help to provide a stronger understanding of the direction the community would like to go.

The city should consider changes (in market and demographic trends, growth and development) to consider whether 

these changes are in alignment with the goals and objectives. The Commission may also wish to consider which 

objectives have been met and whether goals should be updated to align with progress since the 2018 Master Plan. 

Metrics to measure progress towards achieving goals are recommended. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      24 September 2023

future Land Uses in neighboring Communities
As Brighton plans for its future, it is important to be aware of neighboring long range goals and objectives. The city is surrounded 

by townships that are growing in population and projected to continue. The City of Brighton serves as the hub for cultural, 

commercial, and social uses, and the Planning Commission may wish to consider how change in the surrounding areas will 

affect land use and development in the city.

The City of Brighton is located between Genoa, Hamburg, Brighton and Green Oak Townships.

Questions to Consider

1. How does long-range planning in adjacent communities impact Brighton?

2. Has development occurred in shared border areas since the 2018 Comprehensive Plan? If so, were the changes

consistent with long-term plans?

3. What strategies could strengthen or support development and redevelopment in shared border areas? Are there

opportunities for regional collaboration beyond the city boundaries?

figure 6. Surrounding Communities: Projected Population Change, 2020 - 2050

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

35.0%

40.0%

Brighton
Township

Genoa
Township

Green Oak
Township

Hamburg
Township

 Total of All
Surrrounding
Communities

Source: SEMCOG Regional Forecast



      25

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

hamburg township

Hamburg Township is a rural township, spanning between Webster Township to the south and the City of Brighton to the north. 

Hamburg’s population is expected to grow by 11.1% over the next 30 years, which is remarkably the slowest projected growth 

rate among the townships surrounding Brighton. The city’s boundaries with Hamburg Township extend along the Brighton 

Recreation Area and some residential neighborhoods; the Township’s 2020 Future Land Use map maintains these uses from its 

previous 2011 Future Land Use Map. 

M-36

M-36
M-36

M
er

ril
l R

d.

Ore Lake

Appleton
Lake

Reed
Lake

Bishop
Lake

Chilson
Pond

Chenago
Lake

Rush Lake

Oneida Lake

Zukey Lake

Strawberry Lake

Bass Lake

Mohican
Lake

Tioga
Lake

Gallagher
Lake

Hamburg
Lake

Buck
Lake

Sunset
Lake

Winans Lake

Gill Lake

Portage
Lake

Base Line Lake

Tamarack
Lake

Whitewood
Lake

Long Lake

Huron Rive
r

Huro
n R

ive
r

Huron River

Strawberry Lake Rd.

Pe
tty

sv
ille

 R
d.

Rush Lake Rd.

Winans Lake Rd.

H
am

bu
rg

 R
d.

H
am

bu
rg

 R
d.

Sheldon Rd.

Pe
tty

s 
R

d.

W
hi

te
w

oo
d 

R
d.

M
cG

re
go

r R
d.

Shehan Rd.

C
ha

m
be

rs
 R

d.

Swarthout Rd.

C
hi

ls
on

 R
d.

C
hi

ls
on

 R
d.

Cordley Lake Rd.

Cordley
Lake

K
re

ss
 R

d.

Cunningham Lake Rd.

Bishop Lake Rd.

Maltby Rd.

H
am

bu
rg

 R
d.

Cowell Rd.

B
au

er
 R

d.

R
ic

ha
rd

so
n 

R
d.

Chilson Rd.
H

al
l R

d.

Eight Mile

Map 4
Future Land Use
Hamburg Township,
Livingston County, Michigan

GENOA TOWNSHIP

PU
TN

AM
 T

O
W

N
SH

IP

G
R

EEN
 O

AK TO
W

N
SH

IP

WEBSTER TOWNSHIP, WASHTENAW COUNTY

0 0.5 1 1.5 20.25
Miles

Source: Hamburg Township, 2020 08/2020

High Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

Low Density Residential

Multiple Family Residential

Waterfront Residential

Natural River Residential

Neighborhood Commercial

General Commercial

Conserved Open Space

Public and Private Recreational Facilities

Public/Quasi-Public

Water Bodies

M-36 Corridor

Trail

Village Residential-2

Village Residential-10

Village Core

Village Gateway

Village Historic

Village Transition

Industrial

Conservation District

Parkland

Village Boundary

Village Center Area

®

Map 1. hamburg township: future Land Use, 2020



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      26 September 2023

genoa township

The City of Brighton shares the majority of its western boundary with Genoa Township, a rural-suburban township that spans 

between the City of Brighton and the City of Howell. Genoa Township’s quiet natural settings and prominent location between 

the two cities along I-96 and Grand River Avenue makes the Township as an attractive residential setting; this residential demand 

was reflected in SEMCOG’s projection of a 27.7% increase in residential population in the township by 2050. The Township’s 

2023 Future Land Use map matches current zoning near the city boundary, with areas designated for predominantly low 

density residential uses. Along the Grand River Corridor, there were changes in the Future Land Use map to support a variety 

of compatible uses, including the creation of two new mixed-use districts serving the eastern and western ends of the corridor.

Map 2. genoa township: future Land Use, 2023



      27

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

Brighton township

Most of Brighton’s eastern boundary is shared with Brighton Township, a growing rural-residential township between the City 

of Brighton and Hartland Township to the north. Similar to other communities in Livingston County, Brighton Township has a 

growing population that will continue to increase, with a projected 19.9% shift in population over the next thirty years (SEMCOG). 

Brighton Township’s 2020 Future Land Use map indicates plans for increased residential density near the city boundary, as well 

as shifts from Commercial to Mixed Use zoning along the Grand River Corridor

��

����!,7ALW
��

��

���A��W�\	
�

����W\���\	
�

��WL�\	
�

�!��L��\	
����� �������\��\��
���\��\��

� �"#�
�$��%�& '(�#

)��* �+"#�
-��.*.�"\/.����

0&.��\1 2�&3("(&�\4.��\�*�5689:\5;<=>;?@=9:BCD\E;?<=@F\5;<=>;?@=9:G;>=6H\E;?<=@F\5;<=>;?@=9:I=JK\E;?<=@F\5;<=>;?@=9:M:9??;>\N?=@\E;O;:CPH;?@M6Q:=R\SP;?\TP9R;U;=JKQC8KCC>\V6<=?;<< X;?;89:\V6<=?;<<G=Y;>\N<;5;<;98RK\Z\E;O;:CPH;?@[?>6<@8=9:\[?<@=@6@=C?9:U;=JKQC8KCC>\V6<=?;<<\UC>;\

Map 3. Brighton township: future Land Use, 2020



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      28 September 2023

green oak township

Green Oak Township a small portion of its northwestern boundary with the City of Brighton. Green Oak Township is located 

along the US-23 Corridor, the primary route between Brighton and Ann Arbor. The Township’s location, highway access, and 

natural surroundings have influenced its growth as a bedroom community, and SEMCOG projections indicate this will continue, 

with a rise in population of 33.7% expected by the year 2050. The portions of the Township which abut the city boundaries are 

primarily residential and planned to maintain this designation on the 2023 Draft Future Land Use Plan.  Many visitors of Brighton 

enter the city through Green Oak Township at the Lee Road exit off US-23, this area is planned to maintain its designation to 

support general commercial types of uses.

Huron River

Davis Creek

Green Oak No. 2 Green Oak 36-1

Green Oak 35-1

Green Oak No. 3

Green Oak 35-2

Gree
n O

ak
 9-

2

Gr
ee

n 
Oa

k 3
0-

1

Green Oak 31-2

Hu
ro

n 
Ri

ve
r

Hu
ron

 R
ive

r

Huron River

Whitmore Lake

Silver Lake

Island Lake

Nichwagh Lake

Hidden Lake

Briggs Lake

Fonda Lake

Fish Lake

Trout Lake

Sandy Bottom Lake

Kent Lake

Frog Lake

Mallard Lake

Silver Fox Lake

Maltby Lake

Crooked Lake

Limekiln Lake

Dibrova Lake

Monahan Lake

Cygnet Pond

Ore Lake

Lyon Lake

Lawton Lake

Spring Mill Pond

Dollar Lake

Viking Lake

7

6 5 4 3 1

9

2

8

19

18

30

11

31

28

33

10

26

21

16

35

23

29

36

24

34

22

25

131415

27

12

17

20

32

US
23

NINE MILEM36

LEE

RI
CK

ET
T

RU
SH

TO
N

SILVER LAKE

FI
EL

DC
RE

ST
W

HI
TM

OR
E 

LA
KE

PE
ER

GRAND RIVER

MA
RS

HA
LL

SPICER

BI
SH

OP

DI
XB

OR
O

MALTBY

MCCABE

STATE PARK

I96

TEN MILE

KE
NS

IN
GT

ON

HAMMEL

MA
IN

DOANE

EIGHT MILE

LE
ME

N

FAIRLANE

PO
ST

TUTHILL

WINANS LAKE

PA
RK

TWELVE MILE

OT
TE

R

EV
ER

GR
EE

N

LI
SA

 L
OR

I

ME
YE

R

MU
SC

H

W
IS

TE
RI

A

DALEVIEW

HI TECH

KINYON

PL
AZ

A

GO
LD

EN
RO

D

EMERSON

ST
ON

EY
 C

RE
EK

AQ
UA

LLOYD

EA
ST

 S
HO

RE

ACADEMY

BE
TH

MA
RC

Y

SANDY BOTTOM

GOBLE

DIBROVA

SILVERSIDE

STEPHEN

MCNALLY

HA
RM

ON

LA
PO

IN
T

AL
DI

NE

SU
MA

C

VIKING

PINEBROOK

JANE

STONEY POINT

LOCHLIN

LEO

RIVERSIDE

BOARDWALK

KONETA

SOKOL CAMP DEJAROL

GORGET

MA
LL

AR
D

BAY
TE

S

DA
VI

S

PO
ND

ER
OS

A

K 
HI

LL

HA
MM

ER
ST

ON
E

FO
UR

 L
AK

ES

GO
LD

W
IN

GA
ME

W
OO

D

RIDGE

RO
YC

E

SC
OT

CH

AY
LE

BU
RY

AN
DR

ES
EN

EDGEWOOD

TW
IL

IG
HT

FALL RIVER

CANTABERRY

OM
EG

A

POPE

PE
MB

RO
OK

E

SILVER FOX

BONAVENTURE

ARROWHEAD

CAMBRIDGE

ISL
AN

D L
AK

E

RIO VISTA

FRENCH

FI
RW

OO
D

SH
EN

AN
DO

AH

VENTURE

SI
LV

ER
 P

IN
E

MONARCH

LONGFORD

FONDA LAKE

MICHALEK

HALEY

BOULDERCREST

CROSS CREEK

COACH

LEXINGTON

LANNING

COVE RIDGE

SOMERSET

BRIGGS LAKE

BUCHANAN

ME
ND

OT
A

CASCADE

SUNNYWOOD

HOLLISTER

MA
RI

NA

WEST WIND

MISSION

WILD OAKS

BAUDE

BL
UE

BI
RD

W
IN

DM
OO

R

AZALEA

SHARON

CALUMET

SAND CRANE

CROOKED CREEK

SUE DEE

RI
CH

AL
LE

ELMCREST

ANN LYNN

HYACINTH

KENRICH

CHAPMAN

OAKALLA

MA
RE

NG
O

CLOVER

BURGANDY

CH
AR

LE
S

BROOKFIELD

FAIR OAKS CEDARBROOK

VAN DUSEN
BOWERS

EAGLE COVE

VILLAGE PLACE

AV
ON

HE
ID

EL
BE

RG

SUTHERLAND

MEA
DO

W

FAIRWAY

AU
TU

MN

LI
SA

MARCIA

CARMEL

WINDING PINES

AVALON

TILLSON

W
OO

DP
IN

ENO
RT

HB
OR

O

OAK RIDGE

HURON RIVER

CEDARCREST

NATURELLE

FOSSIL HILL

ROLLING PINES

BAYFIELD

ROGER SCOTT

CARLETON

PINYON

HILLVIEW

LAKEVIEW

CORIANDER

WINGATE

SA
DD

LE
W

OO
D

LE
SI

A

QU
IN

CE

RH
ON

DA

PO
W

HA
TA

N

JU
LI

A

GARRISON

HILLSIDE LAKES

TIMOTHY

GROOMES

DE
VO

NS
HI

RE

SILVERTON

PARK FOREST

FROME

PONDVIEW

CONCOLOR

FERNBROOKE

PATRICIA

RAVINEW
OOD

ARIEL

HOLLY RIDGE

BRIDGEW
ATER

STONEYBROOKERIVIERA

VICKI JEAN

BA
LD

W
IN

CHAMBERLAIN

IZIKS

NOLINGWOODS

SU
ND

EW

PLEASANT VALLEY

SHAW

US
23

EIGHT MILE

PA
RK

EIGHT MILE

RIDGE

US
23

US
23

DI
XB

OR
O

I96

Northfield Township - Washtenaw CountyNorthfield Township - Washtenaw County

So
ut

h 
Ly

on
 T

ow
ns

hi
p

 - 
O

a
kl

a
nd

 C
ou

nt
y

So
ut

h 
Ly

on
 T

ow
ns

hi
p

 - 
O

a
kl

a
nd

 C
ou

nt
y

Ha
m

b
ur

g 
To

w
ns

hi
p

Ha
m

b
ur

g 
To

w
ns

hi
p

Brighton TownshipBrighton Township

City of City of 
BrightonBrighton

C
ity

 o
f S

ou
th

 L
yo

n 
- O

a
kl

a
nd

 C
ou

nt
y

C
ity

 o
f S

ou
th

 L
yo

n 
- O

a
kl

a
nd

 C
ou

nt
y

Base Map Source: Livingston County Data

Future Land Use

o

Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc.
Ann Arbor, Michigan

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000 5,000 6,000
Feet

Adopted December 2014

£¤23

Very Low Density Residential

Low Density Residential

Medium Density Residential

Suburban Density Residential

High Density Residential

Multiple Family

Manufactured Home Park

Local Commercial

General Commercial

Village Mixed Use/PUD

Research Office

Limited Industrial

General Industrial

Public - Institutional

Recreation - Conservation

Natural River

Figure 22

Green Oak Charter Township
Livingston County, Michigan

MASTER PLAN  December 2014 3

Map 4. green oak township: future Land Use, 2014



      29

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

future Land Use Plan
This chapter consists of relevant information from the Master Land Use Plan’s “Future Land Use Plan” chapter. Key elements 

are identified for the Planning Commission’s discussion.

Questions to Consider

1. Do these land use categories make sense within the context of existing and anticipated future development?

» How have changes in technology affected land uses?

» How have changes in the economy and the COVID-19 pandemic affected land use (housing, retail, professional

office)

» How has the aging of the Baby Boomer generation affected land use? (Housing needs, accessibility)

» How have shifts in community preferences affected land use? (Demand for public space, transportation,

commercial and housing needs)

» What new land uses should we plan for? (commercial solar, EV charging, housing types)

2. Do all land uses fit within the context of the city and its character?

3. Do the land use descriptions provide enough information to guide land use decisions?

4. Should a form based code be applied to any other Zoning Districts or overlay areas?

future Land Use Map
The Future Land Use Map serves to translate community land use and future development goals into a graphic illustration.

The Future Land Use Map, along with the entire Master Land Use Plan document, is a guide for local decisions regarding land 

use. The boundaries reflected on the map are not intended to indicate precise size, shape, dimensions, or individual parcels. 

In addition, the Future Land Use Map does not necessarily imply that rezoning is imminent; rather, the recommendations set 

long-range planning goals.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      30 September 2023

Map 5. Brighton: future Land Use Map

§̈¦96

Brighton Lake

M
ill Pond

1030

Loch Lomond
Dr

Weber St

Pe
pp

erg
rove Dr

W
 Grand River Ave

N 
4t

h 
St

Brighton Lake Rd Burson Dr

Highslope Dr

S 7
th

 St

Brookview Ct

Spencer Rd

Oak Ridge Rd

S 3
rd

 St

Sp
en

cer Ct

E Grand River Ave

W
oo

df
iel

dSq
uareLn

Brighton Rd

Pi
ne

mo
nt

Dr

S 3
rd

 St

Main StMain St

Hi
llsi

de
La

ke
s C

t

Lee Rd

Bauer Rd

W
yndham

Ln

Sis
uKnol l Dr

Elm
St

Woodri dge Hil ls Dr

Sa
un

de
rs

 St

E Grand River Ave

Brookview Dr

Lin
co

ln
 D

r

Ke
vin

 Ct

W
hitm

ore
Lake Rd

Lee Rd

Flint Rd

Hilton Rd

Rick et t Rd

El Dorado Dr

OakKnoll Dr

Causeway Dr

Br
igh

ten
Interior Dr

Meadow
F arm

Dr

Maltby Rd

Hil lside Lakes Dr

M
ou

nt
Br

ig
ht

on
Dr

Hillside
Lakes
Pl

W
oo

dl
ak

e C
ir

Welles Ct

No rth
rid

ge

Hills Dr

Boul derRidge Ct

Drummers Ln

Goldwin Dr McColl Rd

Fa
irw

ay
Tr

ail
s

Ct

De vonshireBlvd

Campbell Mills Ct

DoveplumDr

Towering Pines Dr

A dvance St

Nemco Way

Old Lee Rd

Glenwyth Cir

Challis Rd

Sa
dd

lew
oo

dCir

Alpine Ct

Ap
pi

an
W

ay
Dr

Challis Rd N

Clara Jean Blvd

Ch
ed

da
r V

ly

Mill Pond Ln

Hammel Rd

Chestnut St
N 3rd St

Teahen Rd

N 
1s

t S
t

Ke
vin

D r

M
ey

er
 A

ve

S East St

Lime Lake Ct

Clark St

Becker Dr

Hadley St

S W
est St

E Saint Paul St

Holly St

Foxboro Sq

W
illi

am
se

n
Dr

State St

Nelson St

Hartford Way

Maurice Dr

Pe
pp

er
wo

od
Ct

Orndorf Dr

Club Dr

N 
2n

d 
St

Oak
Knoll Dr

W
oo

dla
nd

La
ke

BA
S

Odo he rty Rd

W
ill

ow
Tre

eDr

N 
7t

h 
St

Ho
lly

ho
ck

 Tr
l

N 
6t

h 
St

W
oo

dm
er

e C
t

S

Ho
pe

 St

Oak St

Foxgate Dr

Ar
bo

r B
ay

Ct

Northpoint e Rdg

Sw
ee

tle
af

River Ridge Ct

Ba
ue

r R
d

M i ld
red

W
ist

er
ia 

W
ay

RiverRidgeDr

Northrid geD r

Forest Way Ct

W North St

Liberty

Nemco Way

Primrose Way

DaltonRdg

Ha
m

bu
rg

 R
d

Go
ld

en
ro

d 
Ct

S 1
st 

St

Cross St

M
aple

Cushing Bec

ket

Dr

King swood
Dr

Woodlak eDr

ClaraJean St

Forest Way Dr

Fairwa y
T ra il s

D r

Towlen St

Martin

Candlewood
St

Ed
in

bo
ro

ug
h

Dr

Olde DominionDr

Di
llo

n 
St

B r
ig

ht
on

St

N East St

Michigan St

Washington St

2n
d 

St

D
om

i nion Blvd
S

N
5 th

St

Franklin St

S 4
th

 St

Madison St

Walnut St

Lak

e Forest Blv
d

Cedarwood Dr

Be
st 

Bu
y D

r

Vick iL
yn

nLn

Leo Dr

Som
e r set Dr

Do
ro

th
yA

ve
Le

lan
d 

St

Flint Rd

Ri
ch

all
e S

t

We
lle

Rd

M
ar

cy
 St

Be
th

Al
di

ne

Hidden Pines Ct

Ch
ad

 C
t

Stephen

Jane Ave

Arbor Ridge

Kevin Valley

LakesideDr

Hidden Pines Dr

Woodw in
d C

t

Dutcher St

Br
oo

kdaleCt

Pa
m

ala
ne

Ct

Center St

Hy
dr

aw
ay

 C
t

Durwood Ct

Peachw ood
Ct

North

S C
hu

rch
 St

Laurel St

Magnolia
St

Amaranth Way

Periwinkle Way

Rio Vista St
Steph Ln

M
ar

en
go

 D
r

Po
nd

vie

wCt

Cobbles to
ne

Ct

Frome Dr

Hampton Ct

Un
kn

own

Wyn
dh

am
Pt

S

Glenwyth Rd

Heatheridge

Partridge Hi ll D r

Redford Ct

W
es t Ridge Rd

Ol
de

Ha
wt

ho

rne Dr

Pie rce St

Bri
gh

ton
Ct

Sa
ge

HuronMeadows Metropark

MovieDrM
ur

ph
y D

r

Jo
n q

ui
l C

t

Spring Brook Dr

Laksi
de

Dr

Ki ngs ley
Ct

Be
ajo

Dr

Rh
on

da
 St

Ac
or

nD
r

Mary Burton Pl

Se
wa

rd
DR

Sh
an

a D
r

Barclay
Dr

Bi
dw

ell
 St

Glasgow DrHo
lly

wo
od

 C
t

Setters Pointe Blvd

Ve
ry

 D
r

Rosewood Ct

Alley St

Corr iga n Dr

Hi
llc

re
st

Av
e

WinfieldDr

Hu
n t

er
sP

t

Hightree Ct N

Buchanan Rd

Wide Valley Dr

Sh
ore

sPointe Dr

Windi
ng

Tr
l

Et
he

l S
t

Ha
llo

wa
y

W
es

tw
eg

o 
Dr

Pi nehurst St

Hilton Bay Ct

Pine Vista
D

r

Sm
ail Dr

Su
mm

it
Rd

g

Don
Le it h Dr

M
ili

ta
ry

 A
ve

Don Leith Dr Va
n W

in
kle

 St

Whit n ey St

CarneyDr

Hu
nt

er
 R

d

Alpine Dr

Bishop Lake Rd

Fu
lle

r D
r

Glenway Dr

Open Meadows Dr

Ad
am

s S
t

JoseyLn

Larkspur Way

Mo
hi

ca
n

Dr

Ila Ln

M
ar

lo
we

Dr

Coriander Way

Ben Hur Dr

PineK
noll Ct

W
hisperin g Oaks Dr

Th
om

as
Av

e

Sa
dd

lew
oo

dDr

Mission Dr

Di
br

ov
a D

r

Longleaf Ct Sid
ne

y S
t

Fo rest
Dr

Longleaf

Cinema Dr

Al
jo

an
n

Conference Center Dr

D ebora D r

Sc
ho

ol
 St

East Ridge Ct
Be

rry
wo

od
 D

r

Ro
bi

nr
id

ge
 St

Berryw ood
D r

Dav isSt

Heathertree Ln

Wilson
D r

Bo
rd

er
lin

eR
d

Black W
alnutSt W

il df low e r

L n

Spring Mountain
Dr

Lexington M
nr

Ka
rl

Ge
im

el

La
ke

Ri
dg

e
Dr

Vi
ct

or
 D

r

BaywoodCir N

Summit St

Library Dr

ParkDr

Ki
ss

an
e A

ve

S 3rd St

D eeside Dr

Hi
de

away

Ct

Elmbrooke Way

Ridgefield Dr

Setters Pointe Dr

Arbor Bay Dr

Huron
Meadows
Metropark

Ac

orn Dr

La
ke

Rid
ge

Dr

Brighton Lake

Future 
Land Use 
2018 - 2038
City of Brighton
Livingston County, Michigan

Single Family Residential
Low Density Mixed Residential
Moderate Density Mixed Residential
High Density Mixed Residential
Local Business
General Business
Mixed Office/Commercial
Innovation
Downtown
Community Service
Light Industrial
General Industrial

Source: Michigan Geographic Data Library, City of Brighton, SEMCOG
Map Created November 16, 2018

® 0 2,0001,000
Feet



      31

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

future Land Use Categories
In order to guide the development of future land uses throughout the city, distinct land use categories are established. The 

categories, which are discussed in the following sections and indicated on the Future Land Use Map, are outlined below.

Single family Residential

These areas are intended for low-density, single family detached homes, with neighborhood-related facilities such as parks and 

schools. Planned density for these areas is between 2.5 and 4 dwelling units per acre. This corresponds with the A-1, A-2, and 

R-1 Zoning Districts.

Low Density Mixed Residential

These areas are intended to accommodate a variety of home types, including single family homes, duplexes, and small scale 

multi-family developments. Development is limited to six units per acre. The final density for sites designated Mixed Residential 

should be determined by consistency and compatibility with neighboring buildings and density. This density corresponds to 

that permitted by the city’s R-3 zoning district. The designated areas are typically existing Mixed Residential areas. In some 

cases this designation is used in single family residential areas that appear to be in transition, but where a residential use is still 

considered desirable.

Moderate Density Mixed Residential

These areas are intended to include single family attached homes, townhouses, and apartments. Development is limited to not 

more than eight dwelling units per acre, and corresponds with the R-4 zoning district, except where such areas are adjacent 

to downtown. In that case, up to 25 dwelling units per acre are envisioned to support downtown. This designation serves as a 

transition between non-residential districts and lower density residential uses. In some areas it is part of a local mixed use pattern. 

high Density Mixed Residential

This area is designated to allow a high density residential environment such as attached condominiums, townhouses, multiplexes, 

apartments (traditional and courtyard), and senior residences that may serve as a transition between non-residential districts and 

moderate to lower density residential uses. 

Downtown

This land use designation is intended to include the traditional downtown area of the city. Downtown is envisioned as an area 

of pedestrian-friendly, vibrant activity with a mixture of small retailers, restaurants, services, and cultural and civic amenities. 

Automotive-related services, such as drive-throughs and other facilities that negatively impact pedestrian circulation should be 

prohibited. Residential uses are encouraged downtown, including high density residential, to support the viability of downtown 

businesses. 

general Business

The area accommodates a broad range of retail and service businesses, intended to serve the needs of local residents and the 

regional population. This includes larger chain businesses, as well as restaurants and service establishments, including drive-

through uses. These businesses are highly auto-dependent and are located along the Grand River Corridor. 

Local Business

This area is designated to accommodate goods and services that serve the local community, and at a less intensive scale than 

the general business area. These areas are intended to be a transitional area between general business and neighborhoods. 

These uses can be found along Grand River, serving both locals and those traveling through the city.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      32 September 2023

Mixed office/Commercial

This designation is intended to encompass existing and future areas within the city that are or have been transitional in nature. 

These areas are changing from one set of land uses to another and are located between two or more well-defined land use 

areas. This designation would permit a mix of less intensive office, service and commercial uses. The reuse of existing structures 

for new uses is a common feature in these areas, though new structures are also possible. In either case, the main goals of this 

designation are to maintain the existing character of the area in which they occur and to provide a physical transition between 

the differing land uses which lie adjacent to it. 

innovation

This land use designation is intended to facilitate the transition of this area from automobile-oriented retail uses into a district that 

supports the growth and development of leading-edge research, technology, and light manufacturing businesses. Single-purpose 

residential buildings are discouraged in this area unless the residential units support innovation uses and demonstrate intentional 

connectivity within the district, to downtown, and to other commercial areas. 

Light industrial

This land use designation accommodates small scale manufacturing, processing, warehousing, storage of raw materials and 

intermediate and finished products, industrial service providers, industrial parks, and industrial research activities. Such uses 

are intended to have a very minimal impact on neighboring districts. This use correlates with the Office Research, Research 

Manufacturing, and Light Industrial Park Districts.

general industrial

Includes land devoted to large-scale manufacturing, processing, warehousing, storage of raw materials and intermediate and 

finished products, and industrial service providers. Such uses are intended to have a very minimal impact on neighboring districts. 

This category generally correlates to the Intermediate Industrial district. 

Community Service

Includes lands devoted to governmental facilities and offices, public, parochial and private schools, churches, cemeteries, and 

other quasi-public and private institutions.

opportunities for an Update

As a part of a Master Land Use Plan Update, the city could compare the Zoning Map with the Future Land Use Map to 

consider where changes have occurred, and whether changes in zoning align with the vision outlined in the 2018 Future 

Land Use Map.

The 2018 Future Land Use Map proposed the consolidation of some mixed commercial districts into the Innovation 

district, but these changes have not been implemented. The city should consider whether this remains an aspirational 

goal, and if so, establish action steps to implement this change and include them in the plan update.

The 2018 Future Land Use Map proposed the conversion of some commercial and multiple-family residential districts 

along Grand River to a mixed-use designation, but this change has not been implemented. The city should consider 

whether this change remains a priority and consider action steps that could be included to progress towards the Future 

Land Use Map in the plan update. 



      33

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Master Land Use Plan

Map 6. Brighton: Current Zoning Map

Zo
ni

ng
 M

ap

Ci
ty

of
Br

ig
ht

on
Zo

ni
ng

O
rd

in
an

ce
cle

ar
zo

ni
ng

®
i

xxii
xx

 DD
iigg

iittaa
ll  UU

ssee
rr  NN

oott
ee::

Cl
ic

k 
on

 a
 d

is
tri

ct
 h

ea
di

ng
 in

 th
e 

m
ap

 le
ge

nd
 to

 g
o 

di
re

ct
ly

 to
 th

e 
co

rr
es

po
nd

in
g 

di
st

ric
t r

eg
ul

at
io

ns
. 

U
pd

at
ed

 T
hr

ou
gh

 
3/

13
/2

0



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewMaster Land Use Plan

      34 September 2023

Redevelopment Sites
The 2018 Comprehensive Plan included recommendations for three opportunity sites, including two which are discussed in the 

Downtown Plan (provided here in the Downtown Plan chapter’s “Redevelopment Sites” on page 47) and one redevelopment 

outside of downtown, on Challis Road. The vision for the city-owned Challis Road Parcel is expounded on below.

Redevelopment Site 1: Challis Road Parcel (city-owned)

The Challis Road Parcel is a city-owned parcel that is currently zoned OR, Office-Research-Limited Manufacturing. Permitted 

uses include research, design, product development, data processing, studios, office, housing for students, and light industrial.

Surrounding parcels to the east and south are similarly zoned and are developed with big-box regional commercial uses, including 

a movie theater, Home Depot, Staples, Target and similar stores.

The Master Land Use Plan included a redevelopment vision for this site that looked at the following components:

Land use: In light of declining market demand for retail uses, the plan recommends research, office, or light industrial to take 

advantage of highway visibility and the existing road network.

Building form: The plan notes that this site should set a new standard for building form, rather than replicate what is in the 

surrounding area, which may require zoning flexibility, particularly from height restrictions or setbacks. In addition, this site should 

be designed in a manner that breaks up the massing of larger structures at a pedestrian-oriented scale. The plan emphasizes 

the importance of site amenities such as landscaping, sidewalks, and art.

transportation: The plan emphasizes the importance of non-motorized facilities to connect locations inside and outside of 

the site. Connections and wayfinding signage should be provided to the planned shared use path on the south side of Challis. 

Sustainability: The plan contends that development on this site should be based on a framework of sustainable 

building and site design practices that offers a model for development and redevelopment elsewhere in the city. 

Questions to Consider

1. Have any new sites surfaced as priority redevelopment opportunities in Brighton?

2. Have the plans for the Challis Road site changed since the 2018 Comprehensive Plan? Are the proposed uses and

development patterns consistent with today’s market and development opportunities? What changes in conditions

have occurred since 2018?

3. Are there any new incentives or economic development resources to help support redevelopment of the Challis Road

site?

opportunities for an Update

There may be other sites in Brighton where redevelopment could have a transformational impact on the rest of the city. A 

Comprehensive Plan update could examine additional redevelopment opportunities where additional resources may be 

necessary to overcome development limitations. 

An update to the Master Land Use Plan could revisit the vision for redevelopment outlined for the Challis Road Parcel to 

consider whether the city’s current aspirations, as well as current market demand, align with the plan.

The city may wish to explore whether multiple-family residential could be suitable in this area, as this use may support other 

uses nearby with workforce housing.



      35

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Complete Streets Plan

Complete Streets Plan
The Comprehensive Plan includes a Complete Streets plan, with 

informative background information on complete streets including 

discussion of relevant Michigan law and design elements that are 

consistent with Complete Streets.

An important element of the Comprehensive Plan is a plan for the 

overall system of streets and roads in a community. This system 

provides for the movement of people and goods to and from places 

inside and outside the community. Road rights-of-way also provide 

places for utilities such as water lines, gas lines, sanitary and storm 

sewers, cable television lines, electrical power and telephone lines 

to co-locate, lowering the need for easements across private land. 

Because of these combined roads and utility function, the system of 

roads in a community can impact economic conditions, environmental 

quality, energy consumption, land development, and overall quality 

of life in a community.

The plan contains a review of existing conditions, which describes gaps 

in the non-motorized network to identify needs and prioritize, a “Goals, 

Objectives, & Action Strategies” section specific to Complete Streets, 

a section on “New Connections” reviewing future considerations for 

developing a safe non-motorized network with the current framework, 

best practices for safely crossing pedestrians and cyclists, and 

recommendations for implementation.

Maps illustrating the proposed bicycle facilities network and how this 

network would connect to planned regional non-motorized networks 

are also included. The region’s trail systems are not only an important 

recreational amenity, but also an important transportation facility 

locally and regionally.

‘Complete Streets’ is a term used to describe a 

transportation network that includes facilities for 

vehicles, pedestrians, cyclists, and other legal 

users of all ages and abilities. Complete streets 

provide transportation choices, allowing people to 

move about their communities safely and easily.

In 2010, Michigan passed the Complete 

Streets legislation to encourage and justify the 

development of Complete Streets in communities. 

At that time, Michigan’s Planning Enabling Act 

was also amended to require master plans to 

address Complete Streets.

Communities that adopt Complete Streets 

policies recognize that:

• Complete Streets provide transportation

choices, allowing all people to move

about their communities safely and

easily.

• Complete Streets policies acknowledge

the problems with current transportation

facilities.

• Implementing Complete Streets

strategies will make communities better

places to live and work.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewComplete Streets Plan

      36 September 2023

figure 7. Benefits of Complete Streets & Related Strategies

Safety

• Reduce pedestrian accidents by increasing the safety factor.

• Perceptions of the safety of non-motorized travel strongly influence

decisions about alternative modes of travel for many.

• Reducing either the width or number of travel lanes (road diet) to

make space for shoulder or bike paths will improve safety.

Health

• Walking or biking to school may result in reduced child obesity

rates.

• Sedentary lifestyles are associated with a host of long-term health

problems.

• Sidewalks, bike paths and access to transit increases level of

physical activity.

Access

• A variety of transportation options allows everyone – particularly

people with disabilities and older adults – to get out and stay

connected to the community.

• Designing a street to accommodate those with mobility challenges

may reduce overall pedestrian risk.

Environment

• Our dependence on the automobile increases air and water

pollution resulting from motor vehicles and the impervious surfaces

of roads.

• Studies have shown that 5 to 10 percent of urban automobile trips

can reasonably be shifted to non-motorized transport.

Economy

• Increase consumer activity by redesigning residential and local

business districts with traffic calming measures.

• Implementing Complete Streets has proven to be an effective

placemaking strategy for economic development and community

revitalization.

On average, a pedestrian 
was killed in the US every 

88 minutes in traffic 
crashes in 2017.

Between 1989 and 2018, 
child obesity rates have 
risen dramatically, while 

the percentage of walking 
or biking to school has 

dropped.

54% of older American 
living in inhospitable 

neighborhoods say they 
would walk and ride more 
often if things improved.

Carbon-dioxide emissions 
can be reduced by 20 

pounds per day or more 
than 4,800 pounds in a 

year per each commuter 
by using transit instead of 

driving.

 Nearly  40 percent of 
merchants reported 

increase in sales, and 
60 percent more area 

residents shopping locally 
due to reduced travel 
time and convenience 

associated with Complete 
Streets strategies.



      37

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Complete Streets Plan

The city, in partnership with the Brighton Downtown 

Development Authority is undergoing a one-year project 

to upgrade all streets, sidewalks, and infrastructure in the 

downtown area, which was completed in August 2023.  

Other than ongoing maintenance to keep local streets, 

sidewalks (where provided) and trail surfaces in good repair, 

there may still be opportunities to further enhance the city’s 

transportation network to better serve all users, particularly in 

areas outside of downtown. These may include the following:

Site Design

Minor improvements within a site can improve the usability 

of public non-motorized facilities such as requiring safe 

pedestrian connections from building entrances to street 

sidewalks, requiring parking facilities including bike racks and/

or storage lockers along with parking for motorized vehicles 

and considering access management within the parking lot. 

All bike parking should meet the APBP guidelines (Association 

of Pedestrian and Bicycle Professionals). 

Access Management

Typical driveway standards require alignment or minimum 

offsets, as well as separation from intersections and other 

driveways on the same side of the street to improve safety of 

motorists. Additional access management techniques include 

limiting the number of access drives on major roads, shared 

drives, encouraging joint access easements and maximizing 

corner clearance requirements especially for intersections 

that require special attention. 

Collaboration

Collaboration with multiple stakeholders is another important 

tool for successful implementation. Indeed, with road facilities 

connecting with and shared by adjacent communities, it is 

critical to have shared visions of local transportation goals. 

Most of the time, the roadway jurisdiction determines the 

combination of outside agencies that are required to be 

part of the stakeholder team. Local residents, surrounding 

municipalities, the RCOC, Southeast Michigan Council of 

Governments (SEMCOG), Michigan Department of Natural 

Resources (MDNR), Michigan Department of Transportation 

(MDOT) and other local non-profit agencies such as Michigan 

Trails and Greenways, or Rails to Trails conservancy are the 

potential members of a team.

goals & objectives
The Complete Streets plans includes objectives tied to the goals in the Comprehensive Plan. 

goal 1: Quality and Variety of housing
CS 1.A. Ensure neighborhoods are connected internally, to other neighborhoods, important city destinations including schools 

and parks, and goods and services

goal 2: Community identity
CS 2.A. Provide non-motorized transportation options that connect downtown with residential areas and other commercial 

corridors in the city

CS 2.B. Reinforce the community’s character by incorporating wayfinding signage, art, and other civic installations throughout 

and along the non-motorized network where possible

CS 2.C. Ensure high-quality materials are utilized in the construction of the non-motorized transportation network; including 

high-quality amenities such as furnishings and lighting, as appropriate



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewComplete Streets Plan

      38 September 2023

goal 3: Environmental Stewardship
CS 3.A. Encourage the use of non-motorized transportation to reduce environmental impacts of vehicular travel, which include 

air pollution from idling vehicles and water contamination from stormwater runoff of roadways

CS 3.B. Incorporate environmental education into the non-motorized transportation network as appropriate through interpretive 

signage and related events

goal 4: infrastructure and Civic Spaces
CS 4.A. Ensure the non-motorized transportation plan is efficiently and effectively implemented

CS 4.B. Ensure all civic uses are connected via the non-motorized transportation network

CS 4.C. Provide a complete non-motorized transportation network, which includes parking, lighting, and furnishings as 

appropriate

goal 5: Economic Development
CS 5.A. Encourage non-motorized transportation options to alleviate traffic and parking concerns in the downtown area

CS 5.B. Encourage business to tap into the market potential associated with non-motorized travel, which could include healthy 

food, recreational clothing and equipment, and also delivery services for those shopping by bicycle and on foot

CS 5.C. Ensure new development is connected to the non-motorized transportation network

In addition to a review of Complete Streets objectives, the plan includes recommendations for new non-motorized connections, 

including:

Sidewalks
The plan discussed challenges with the city’s sidewalks including gaps in the network, narrow widths, numerous intersections 

between sidewalk and driveways, and maintenance needs of older sidewalks. In addition, this section highlighted the incompatibility 

of sidewalks for bicycles, noting that these facilities are not ideal, and often unsafe, for bicyclists. 

The map on the following page includes the city’s 2021 sidewalk map, with improvements made since the 2018 Comprehensive 

Plan. Sidewalk improvements should continue to be monitored and documented overtime to help the city evaluate priorities on 

an ongoing basis. 



      39

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Complete Streets Plan

Map 7. Brighton: Existing Sidewalk network, 2021



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewComplete Streets Plan

      40 September 2023

Shared Use Pathways
The plan included information on shared use pathways, 

explaining that unlike sidewalks, the added width provides for 

safe and efficient use by all users. In addition, by developing 

a shared pathway network throughout the entire city, plans 

can strive to strategically reduce road crossings or direct 

the pathways to less intense roadways. While sidewalks 

are intended for one-way traffic for pedestrians only, shared 

use pathways often use guides and markers to separate 

types of users and direct the flow of traffic. Finally, the 

plan acknowledges certain design principles for shared-use 

pathways that consider variables such as stopping distance 

and sight lines, which are not characteristic of sidewalks. 

The plan recommends two key shared use pathways:

• In the northwest quadrant of the city, connected from

the Mount Brighton area, just outside the city limits,

to a bike route on N. 2nd Street, with the potential to

link this path to Grand River Avenue and, ultimately,

to the City of Howell.

• Along Brighton Lake Road, however, the plan notes

challenges for implementation due to narrow ROW,

development, and topography.

Roadway facilities
The plan includes strategies to use the existing road network 

to accommodate transportation alternatives. This section of 

the plan acknowledges that this is not the most desirable 

solution for non-motorized transportation, but often is easier 

to implement due to space and cost limitations. The plan 

discusses opportunities to designate bike routes within the 

non-motorized network, even if it includes stretches of the 

route where bicycle facilities are not provided. However, one 

easy way to add bicycle facilities is to provide sharrows to 

indicate shared usage of a roadway when a connection is 

needed, but options for implementation are limited. In addition, 

the plan discusses bike lanes, but acknowledges that there 

are not plans for bike lanes currently in place. 

The Complete Streets plan concludes with an implementation 

section, detailing action items to align with each plan objective.



      41

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Complete Streets Plan

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

MASTER LAND USE 
PLAN 

CCOOMMPPLLEETTEE  SSTTRREEEETTSS  
PPLLAANN  

DOWNTOWN 
PLAN 

RECREATION  
PLAN 

APPENDIX 

Map CS-3: PROPOSED BRIGHTON BIKE CONNECTIONS PLAN 

47

Map 8. Brighton: Proposed Bike Connections Plan, 2018



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewComplete Streets Plan

      42 September 2023

BRIGHTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Map CS-4: PLANNED REGIONAL NON-MOTORIZED NETWORK 

See Map CS-2 for City of Brighton 
Bike Connections Plan 

48

Map 9. Regional non-Motorized Pathway Plan, 2018



      43

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Complete Streets Plan

opportunities for an Update

An updated Comprehensive Plan could include a refined 

Complete Streets plan that considers changes that have 

occurred since 2018. The updated plan should consider 

what connections are available and where sidewalk have 

been improved around the city. As a part of the planning 

process, the city should document areas where sidewalk 

improvements are still needed, including maintenance 

issues and gaps in the network. 

The downtown streetscape enhancements are intended 

to bolster foot traffic and accommodate a safer and 

more efficient flow of pedestrians through downtown 

Brighton. The city may wish to consider improvements 

to connections leading to downtown Brighton to 

accommodate an influx of pedestrians and other modes 

of non-motorized transportation. 

Questions to Consider

1. Where have non-motorized networks expanded

beyond the city limits? How can the city plan for

connections to these regional networks? What

other jurisdictions/ stakeholders should the city

work with to strengthen connections within the

region?

2. Where have sidewalk-gaps been addressed and

where do they remain a priority? Have any new

pathways or bicycle facilities been constructed?

3. Where is it unsafe to travel by bike/walking in

Brighton? What makes these areas unsafe and

what improvements are needed to provide better

access and connectivity?

4. Where have amenities such as trailheads,

benches, wayfinding or art been installed to

complement the non-motorized network?

5. How have shifts in the economy impacted who is

on the road and peak hours? The rise of remote

work has led to shifts in commuting patterns,

while services like Amazon and Door Dash have

increased demand for transportation-related

occupations.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewDowntown Plan

      44 September 2023

Downtown Plan
The Downtown Plan is comprised of the following subsections, outlined below. 

What is Working and What needs Work
The 2018 Downtown Plan included an assessment of existing conditions, summarized here. 

What is Working (2018) What Needs Work (2018)

• Mix of compatible land uses

• Variety in hours of operation

• High occupancy

• Storefront displays

• Vibrant street amenities

• Walkable/Pedestrian focus

• Parking availability and location in rear of buildings

• Few driveways, restricted drive-thrus

• Sense of place

• More housing units near downtown Brighton to support

the downtown economy.

• More office development on secondary streets

• Sense of traditional downtown quickly dissipates

• Include residential in the mix of permitted uses

• A parking garage could provide reductions in surface

parking lots



      45

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Downtown Plan

goals and objectives
This section of the plan applies plan goals from the Master 

Land Use Plan (to consider objectives specific to downtown 

Brighton. The following objectives were included:

goal 1: Quality and Variety of housing
objectives

D 1.A. Add a variety of new medium-high density housing 

units in and near downtown that encourage and 

support walkable access to downtown commercial 

goods and services.

goal 2: Community identity
objectives

D 2.A. Foster the identity of the city as a distinctive, 

attractive, vibrant community with a strong sense 

of place.

D 2.B. Enhance gateway to downtown, especially along 

Grand River Avenue.

D 2.C. Support downtown businesses by providing 

adequate parking, clear wayfinding signage, and 

attractive streetscape.

D 2.D. Maintain the strong cultural presence and identity 

of the city by partnering with a variety of groups to 

preserve historic structures and creating gathering 

places for residents and community activities.

D 2.E. Adopt a form-based code for downtown that 

promotes the historical development pattern, 

maintains a continuous street wall within blocks, 

and requires ground floor spaces to include design 

elements that enhance the pedestrian experience.

D 2.f. Maintain and expand support for the arts and 

cultural resources in the city.

goal 3: Environmental Stewardship
objectives

D 3.A. Apply low-impact development standards for new 

downtown development and redevelopment

goal 4: infrastructure and Civic 
Spaces
objectives

D 4.A. Connect downtown with the rest of the city 

via a network that accommodates a variety 

of transportation choices for users of all ages, 

including facilities for motorized and non-motorized 

transportation.

D 4.B. Ensure civic spaces are well-maintained.

goal 5: Economic Development
objectives

D 5.A. Regulate downtown site and building design that 

offers flexibility in redevelopment and is adaptable 

to new trends and technologies.

D 5.B. Encourage and nurture start-up and growing 

businesses.

Questions to Consider

1. What performance indicators can be used to

evaluate progress in downtown?

2. Have any objectives been achieved? Are any

objectives no longer relevant?

3. What new priorities for downtown should be

reflected in an update to the Comprehensive

Plan?



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewDowntown Plan

      46 September 2023

Downtown Design
These are components of downtown that are distinct to Brighton’s community identity. The plan highlights elements of physical 

appearance, including historic buildings, quality building materials, engaging street walls, and a vibrant public realm, which 

contribute to the overall look and sense of place in Brighton.

opportunities for an Update

Highlight components of the recent streetscape project, including:

Water features. Water features contribute to community vibrancy and offer a natural escape in an urban setting. 

Downtown Brighton’s proximity to Millpond Park helps to enhance the overall aesthetic appeal and provide a unique 

experience for walking and gathering. An update may highlight the importance of water features and recent improvements 

to downtown that build off of this asset. An update may also consider the value of other natural features in the overall 

aesthetic of downtown, such as the urban tree canopy.

Accessible and inclusive design. Accessible and inclusive design is another component of a welcoming downtown. A 

plan update may review and consider where there are design features that enhance accessibility, especially those included 

in the recent streetscape improvements. The plan may also consider strategies to address ADA nonconformities in buildings 

and sidewalk maintenance. 

Downtown Land Use
Future Land Use Vision. This section of the plan provides context for the Future Land Use vision for the downtown area. In the 

2018 Master Land Use Plan, two changes were proposed to add additional residential density near downtown. The plan explains 

that in addition to the maintenance and upkeep of existing single family neighborhoods, adding opportunities for different housing 

types will support the city’s residents and downtown.



      47

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Downtown Plan

Redevelopment Sites
The Plan identified two redevelopment sites in downtown Brighton, in addition to the Challis Road Site discussed earlier in this 

review. 

Redevelopment Site 2: former Lindbom Elementary

This privately-owned parcel contains approximately 10.5 acres and is currently zoned R-1, Single Family Residential. Surrounding 

parcels to the west and south are similarly zoned and are developed with single family homes. This area is within an easy walk 

of downtown.

Questions to Consider

1. Have any new sites surfaced as priority redevelopment opportunities in downtown?

Updates since 2018

The former elementary school will be demolished in September 2023, and this site will be used for an attached single-family 

residential use of 124 multi-family units. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewDowntown Plan

      48 September 2023

Redevelopment Site 3: Washington Street

This privately-owned parcel contains approximately two acres and is just south of downtown, across the railroad tracks at 

Washington/Hyne. The current Future Land Use designation is Mixed Industrial/Research/Office. The property is zoned Light 

Industrial, where a variety of storage, manufacturing, and other industrial activities are permitted. The site is currently developed 

with an older industrial building.

The Downtown Plan highlighted the long-term vision for various components of site redevelopment, including:

Land use: The plan notes that this site’s location near downtown makes it a viable location for moderate density mixed residential 

uses.

Building form: The plan recommends buildings up to three stories with tuck under or enclosed garages, with high quality building 

materials. Given constraints on yard area, balconies and patios may be desired amenities.

transportation: The plan recognizes the need for any development on this site to connect to existing sidewalks and include 

appropriate on-site parking.

Sustainability: The plan recommends sustainable building and site design practices to serve as a model for development 

elsewhere in the city.

Development of the district: The plan suggests form-based standards may be explored to address neighborhood character, 

connectivity, building design, materials, and landscaping.

opportunities for an Update

There may be other sites in downtown Brighton where 

redevelopment could have a transformational impact on 

the rest of downtown. A Comprehensive Plan update 

could examine additional redevelopment opportunities. 

The Downtown Plan discusses the prospect of a parking 

structure in downtown, with the potential to include 

first floor uses or an engaging street wall, particularly 

along North Street. A Comprehensive Plan update could 

identify a redevelopment site that would be appropriate 

to accommodate this type of structure.

A Comprehensive Plan update could revisit the visions 

for redevelopment outlined for each opportunity site 

and consider whether they align with the city’s current 

aspirations, as well as current market demand.

A Comprehensive Plan update could include concept 

plans or more specific visions for each redevelopment 

site, however, while this offers a clearer policy vision, it 

may encumber the city from exploring desired flexibility. 



      49

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Downtown Plan

Physical Environment

Downtown Concept Plan
The Downtown Concept Plan (Figure 8) shows potential for redevelopment of private and public space within the downtown 

boundary. The plan reflects a potential to increase density and building height at selected locations to allow for new downtown 

housing, retail and office uses, entertainment uses, and structured and surface parking.

• Potential new buildings and structures are indicated in white.

• The numbers illustrate the intended maximum height of buildings and structures.

• note: the upper limit of development is not envisioned as a by-right ability to construct. Rather, special land use

approval will be necessary to construct the upper floor in some locations, and it is often required to be stepped
back.

figure 8. Brighton: Downtown Concept Plan, 2018

BRIGHTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

The Downtown Concept Plan (Figure D-8, above) shows potential for redevelopment of private and public space
within the downtown boundary.  The plan reflects a potential to increase density and building height at selected 
locations to for new downtown housing, retail and office uses, entertainment uses, and structured and surface
parking.  Potential new buildings and structures are indicated in white; the numbers illustrate the intended 
maximum height of buildings and structures.  Note, the upper limit of development is not envisioned as a by-right
ability to construct.  Rather, special land use approval will be necessary to construct the upper floor in some
locations.

Possible  locations for future public parking areas were explored in the 2011 Rich Associates Downtown Parking
Study, but final sites have not been identified.   Some sites designated for increased height may never redevelop. 
As long as the form and design of structures continue to support pedestrian circulation and activate the street with 
lively display windows and human-scale amenities, the foundation of the downtown plan can still be reflected. 

Figure D-8: DOWNTOWN CONCEPT PLAN 

W. Main Street

W. North Street

H
yn

e 
St

re
et

 

Washington Street 

E. Main Street

92



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewDowntown Plan

      50 September 2023

The key elements of the concept plan include:

four corners. The intersection of Main Street and Grand River 

Avenue is a key focal point of the downtown. It connects Main 

Street with Grand River, which is an arterial that connects 

the city to other cities and places in Livingston County and 

beyond. The plan envisions potential redevelopment up to 

four stories in height, with the fourth floor recessed so that the 

street-facing façade appears to be three stories high to the 

pedestrian on the street. This permits the four corners area 

to have an increased visual presence in the downtown and 

it provides a visual cue to passing motorists on Grand River 

and Main Street that this intersection has a pedestrian focus.

The four-story pattern includes up to one block from the 

intersection, with one exception, where the four-story block 

pattern extends west along the south side of Main Street 

to the existing public parking lot west of Ciao Amici’s. This 

western extension provides an opportunity for residential 

dwellings to overlook the Millpond.

north Street (west). Directly south of the proposed four-story 

block that includes Ciao Amici’s is the W. North Street block. 

The intersection of W. North Street and S. West Street is 

proposed to have up to five-story structures. This is an area 

of downtown where the topography slopes down towards 

the Ore Creek. The impact of the taller structures will be 

mitigated by the changing topography, and the third to fifth 

floor step backs will minimize the bulk of the new buildings 

as viewed from the street. It is anticipated that at least one 

of these five-story structures will be developed to primarily 

serve as public parking, providing 5 levels of parking over 

ground floor liner retail storefronts.

South ore Creek. A key plan implementation element for 

this subarea is investigation the potential of daylighting South 

Ore Creek from W. Main Street to North Street. This would 

likely require recessing the potential five-story structure at 

the northwest corner of North and West so the creek can 

be exposed along the west side of West Street. This amenity 

could be a catalyst for outdoor dining and a small plaza 

flanking the creek.

traditional Downtown Building forms. One of the key 

redevelopment sites is the existing Fifth Third Bank building on 

W. North Street. As noted elsewhere in the plan, the bank and

other existing retail, restaurant, office, and personal service

uses (beauty salons, etc.) are welcome downtown now and 

as part of any future redevelopment of individual parcels. The 

existing bank is developed in a suburban style format with 

a single floor structure and off-street parking. Transforming 

this site will help support pedestrian activity and provides 

greater density in the downtown. For example, the plan 

envisions the bank relocating on the ground floor of a 4-story 

building on the same site, with the drive-through operation 

continuing for as long as the demand exists for drive-through 

banking. The upper floors could include residential, office, 

or entertainment uses.

farmers Market Area. The existing 53rd District court 

building next to the Millpond is slated for potential closure 

in the future. This provides a potential opportunity to use 

this building for another purpose. The adjacent parking lot 

area is also currently used as part of the Farmers Market 

operation. The plan envisions exploring the conversion of 

the court building into a structure that could support the 

Farmers market. This area could also serve as an incubator 

for budding food-related entrepreneurs looking to establish 

new businesses. The plan also envisions installation of two or 

more sheltered areas within the parking lot that could provide 

a covered area for Farmers Market stalls, while served as a 

covered parking space during non-Farmers Market operations.

Pedestrian Passages. Pedestrian passages, also known as 

vias and paseos, are critical to establishing a convenient and 

efficient network in the downtown. They often are placed near 

mid-block and can serve multiple functions including 1) linking 

the storefront sidewalks on Main Street with larger parking 

fields behind buildings, 2) providing a location for outdoor 

dining, 3) serving as a place for pedestrian-oriented amenities 

such as landscaping, art, and lighting. The Hyne passage 

adjacent to the Brighton Bar and Grill is an example of how 

a space between buildings can serve multiple functions. (See 

Figure 10 for additional examples of pedestrian passages

The Pierce Pedestrian Passage (Figure 9) is proposed directly 

west of Ciao Amici’s, where a small public parking lot currently 

exists. It will connect pedestrians on W. Main Street to W. 

North Street, west of a location where it is likely that a future 

parking structure will be constructed near the intersection of 

North Street and West Street. The connection between Main 

Street and the alley is envisioned as an urban amenity, with 

a tree lined pedestrian pathway, flanked by two rectangular 



      51

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Downtown Plan

lawn areas. This park will also serve as an amenity for the private plaza area that is part of the Ciao Amici’s site. It would be an 

excellent location to establish an outdoor dining area fronting on this new urban park space. The connection from the alley to 

North Street would narrow as a passage between two new four-story buildings. It is anticipated this pedestrian passage would 

have lighting and artwork above the passage way to provide visual cues to passing pedestrians that this is a welcoming place. 

The photographs in Figure 10 show some precedent images from other communities showing amenities that would be consistent 

with this vision.

figure 9. Downtown Concept Plan, Pierce 
Passage, 2018

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

MASTER LAND USE
PLAN

COMPLETE STREETS
PLAN

DDOOWWNNTTOOWWNN
PPLLAANN

RECREATION
PLAN APPENDIX

The Pierce Pedestrian Passage (Figure D-9) is proposed directly west of
Ciao Amici’s, where a small public parking lot currently exists. It will
connect pedestrians on W. Main Street to W. North Street, west of a 
location where it is likely that a future parking structure will be constructed 
near the intersection of North Street and West Street.  The connection 
between Main Street and the alley is envisioned as an urban amenity, with 
a tree lined pedestrian pathway, flanked by two rectangular lawn areas.  
This park will also serve as an amenity for the private plaza area that is part 
of the Ciao Amici’s site. It would be an excellent location to establish an 
outdoor dining area fronting on this new urban park space.  The 
connection from the alley to North Street would narrow as a passage 
between two new four-story buildings.  It is anticipated this pedestrian 
passage would have lighting and artwork above the passage way to 
provide visual cues to passing pedestrians that this is a welcoming place.  
The photographs in Figure D-10 show some precedent images from other 
communities showing amenities that would be consistent with this vision.

Rooftops and Terraces.  As the downtown evolves, opportunities for 
development and redevelopment can be found above grade, utilizing 
rooftops and terraces.  Possible land uses range from green roofs, which 
provide stormwater management benefits, to outdoor dining and park / 
plaza space.  As a downtown with important water features, including the 
Millpond and Ore Creek, using green roofs for stormwater management 
makes sense.  It will reduce the amount of impervious surface downtown, 
which leads to less demand on the stormwater system during periods of 
heavy flooding. By promoting green roofs, the city is effectively protecting 
important downtown features that help attract customers to the area. 

For residential uses, step back spaces, which are envisioned for 4th and 5th 
floors, can be used as terraces overlooking features including the Millpond. 
These terraced areas could also incorporate green roof features as a 
supplement to hardscaped patio areas. 

W. Main St

W. North St

Proposed Pierce Pedestrian Passage, 
would connect the shopping and dining 
areas on W. Main Street with parking 
areas and other uses on West North Street. 
This effectively shortens the block length 
an increases pedestrian convenience. 

Millpond 

Figure D-9: PIERCE PASSAGE 

Ciao Am
ici 

97

figure 10. Downtown Concept Plan, Precedent 
images - Passages, 2018

BRIGHTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN

Figure D-10: PRECEDENT IMAGES—PASSAGES 

98

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

MASTER LAND USE
PLAN

COMPLETE STREETS
PLAN

DDOOWWNNTTOOWWNN
PPLLAANN

RECREATION
PLAN APPENDIX

99



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewDowntown Plan

      52 September 2023

opportunities for an Update

Consider the effect of public art in downtown Brighton 

and what types of art are compatible with Brighton’s 

historic character. A public art component could be a 

part of an updated Downtown Plan.

Questions to Consider

• What has been constructed since the 2018

Comprehensive Plan was adopted? Have

buildings been consistent with the Downtown

Framework Plan and the Downtown Concept

Plan? Why or why not?

• Has the recent adoption of new Downtown

Business District zoning standards had an

impact on development? Are there opportunities

to expand on these changes to encourage or

require other recommendations from the plan?

• Since the Downtown Framework Plan and

Downtown Concept Plans were adopted,

what opportunities and challenges have been

identified in implementing the recommendations

provided?

Rooftops and terraces. As the downtown evolves, opportunities for development and redevelopment can be found above grade, 

utilizing rooftops and terraces. Possible land uses range from green roofs, which provide stormwater management benefits, to 

outdoor dining and park / plaza space. As a downtown with important water features, including the Millpond and Ore Creek, 

using green roofs for stormwater management makes sense. It will reduce the amount of impervious surface downtown, which 

leads to less demand on the stormwater system during periods of heavy flooding. By promoting green roofs, the city is effectively 

protecting important downtown features that help attract customers to the area.

For residential uses, step back spaces, which are envisioned for 4th and 5th floors, can be used as terraces overlooking features 

including the Millpond. These terraced areas could also incorporate green roof features as a supplement to hardscaped patio areas.



      53

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Downtown Plan

Parking
The plan discusses the importance of shared parking in a downtown as a balanced approach to avoid excessive pavement, while 

ensuring that spaces are sufficient for businesses and downtown Brighton visitors. Shared parking allows the city to consider 

hourly, daily, and monthly variations in parking space usage by different land uses. 

In addition, the plan recognized a 2011 study by Rich and Associates which called for additional parking spaces to meet demand 

for parking in downtown. Although a public parking garage has been the source of some consideration through the years, 

planning for additional demand should continue to be a factor in considering new development. The plan recommends ongoing 

monitoring of downtown parking demand.

open Space
Thoughtfully designed open space serves an important role in a downtown by offering places for gathering and respite, as well 

as opportunities to connect with nature in an urban setting. The Comprehensive Plan considers the value of accessible open 

spaces downtown in this section, focusing on the different types of open spaces, including:

• Green spaces

• Plazas

• Courtyards

• Sun decks/terraces

• Passages

• Parklets

Connections/Circulation
This section of the plan references the Complete Streets plan, 

but calls special attention to the importance of wayfinding 

in downtown to help direct visitors to key destinations, sub-

districts, and attractions. 

The plan recommends the city conduct a street name 

evaluation of the downtown, as the current directional names 

are a frequent source of confusion. The plan recommends 

naming streets after people who played a significant role in the 

city’s history, with special attention towards the contributions of 

women and others who may have previously been overlooked.

opportunities for an Update

A new wayfinding plan was completed in 

2023. Once implemented, the city may 

wish to revisit this section. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewRecreation Plan

      54 September 2023

Recreation Plan
The State of Michigan’s Department of Natural Resources (DNR) 

requires communities adopt a five-year plan for parks and recreation 

to be eligible for relevant technical assistance and grant opportunities. 

Brighton’s 2018-2023 Parks and Recreation Plan is a component of 

the overall Comprehensive Plan.

A parks and recreation plan must include the 

following components:

• Community Description. Brief overview

of community, including demographics and

description of the physical environment.

• Administrative Structure. Overview of

how the parks and recreation function

is carried out, who is involved, and how

parks are funded.

• Recreation Inventory. An inventory of

local parks and recreation facilities.

• Status Report for all Grant-Assisted
Parks and Recreation Facilities.
Ongoing updates of any facilities that have

a history of grant funding through the

DNR.

• Description of the Planning Process.

Explanation of the methods used to

develop the Parks and Recreation Plan.

• Description of the Public Input
Process. Explanation of the methods

used to gather public input for the Parks

and Recreation Plan.

• Goals and Objectives. The goals and

objectives that will result in the outcomes

the community desires.

• Action Program. The specific actions

needed to meet the goals and objectives.



      55

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Recreation Plan

Parks and Recreation 
inventory
The Parks and Recreation Inventory includes an overview of 

the local parks in the City of Brighton as of 2018.

Local Parks
Millpond Park. Located in the heart of the downtown, 

Millpond Park is a major gathering area in the city. The park 

offers a paved walking trail along the perimeter of the pond, 

as well as a boardwalk over the pond. A gazebo is also 

on site, which is free for community use and often hosts 

performances in the spring, summer, and fall.

imagination Station. Built in 1995, this park is located in 

downtown Brighton between Millpond and the Municipal 

Building. The 10,000-square foot park contains a large, 

wooden, castle-like playscape that is enjoyed by children of 

all ages. Restrooms, drinking fountains, benches, a covered 

picnic pavilion, and interactive art and sculptures are also 

located in this area.

BACC Sculpture garden. The Brighton Arts and Culture 

Committee created a Sculpture Garden in 2013, located 

on East Main Street. The park is a part of the city’s many 

outdoor art displays, and showcases art by local artists. A 

walking tour map is available.

St. Paul Pocket Park. Located along St. Paul Street near 

Grand River, this linear pocket park contains three sculptures 

and a built-in concrete seating area. The sculptures were the 

selected submission chosen by City Council in January 2011, 

and were designed by local artists. The artwork was installed 

with funding from the Michigan Economic Development 

Corporation.

Kissane Park. This neighborhood park is located on the west 

side of Maurice Drive at the intersection of Kissane Avenue. 

This park includes limited visitor parking, an open space area, 

as well as a jungle gym, swings, a slide, and seating areas.

Brighton Community Center. This indoor recreation space 

is available for the community to rent for events. Rentals are 

handled by the Brighton Area Schools. The Garden Club, local 

boy and girl scout troops, and other groups use the center.

Charles and Albert Parker families nature Preserve. This 

nature preserve is located behind the Brighton District Library 

on Orndorf Drive. The Parker Family sold the property to the 

library with the stipulation of keeping it a natural area. A short 

walking trail is located in this scenic area.

Regional Parks
The plan describes important parks and recreation 

destinations in the region, including state parks, county 

parks, school-owned facilities, other nearby local parks, and 

private recreation resources. 

Programming and opportunities
In addition to the physical places used for parks and recreation, 

the plan includes an overview of the civic events that the city 

holds to activate its parks and the volunteer opportunities to 

help maintain them. 



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewRecreation Plan

      56 September 2023

Map 10. Regional Parks, 2018

BRIGHTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Map R-2: REGIONAL PARKS 

114



      57

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Recreation Plan

Map 11. Brighton: Local Parks, 2018

EXECUTIVE 
SUMMARY 

MASTER LAND USE 
PLAN 

COMPLETE STREETS 
PLAN 

DOWNTOWN 
PLAN 

RREECCRREEAATTIIOONN    
PPLLAANN  

APPENDIX 

Map R-3: LOCAL PARKS 

115



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewRecreation Plan

      58 September 2023

Barrier free Assessment
The Parks and Recreation Plan includes an assessment of the accessibility of parks and recreation facilities in alignment with 

the Americans for Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines. The assessment includes an overall ranking for each park. The final 

rankings are included below.

Millpond
imagination 

Station

St. Paul 
Pocket 

Park

Kissane 
Park

Brighton 
Community 

Center

Parker 
nature 

Preserve

BACC 
Sculpture 
garden

Overall 
Ranking*

3 3 3 2 3 2 4

*Ranking:

1 = None of the facilities/park areas meet accessibility guidelines

2 = Some of the facilities/park areas meet accessibility guidelines

3 = Most of the facilities/park areas meet accessibility guidelines

4 = The entire park meets accessibility guidelines

Recreational needs Analysis
This portion of the parks and recreation plan includes an assessment of community recreation needs to identify deficiencies 

and opportunities for improvement. 

The analysis includes an inventory of recreational facilities, with benchmarks for communities of a similar size. The current number 

of recreational facilities in Brighton did not meet the recommended benchmark for any of the types of facilities included on the 

list, even with the inclusion of public school facilities. 

In addition, the analysis includes a classification system for types of parks (mini-park, neighborhood park, school park, community 

park, etc) and benchmarks for recommended land area based on Brighton’s population. This analysis also showed some 

deficiencies in the total park land available to residents, with natural resource areas listed as the only type of park/public space 

where the benchmark acreage has been met. 

The plan goes on to include an assessment of park accessibility, reviewing the number of residents within a 10-minute walk of 

a park. This analysis indicates that 70% of city residents are in walking distance of a park, a greater portion of the population 

than in Howell, Pinckney, Novi or Milford.



      59

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Recreation Plan

goals, objectives, and Action 
Strategies
The Goals and Objectives for Parks and Recreation are 

listed below. 

goal 1: Quality and Variety of housing: 
R 1.A. Encourage the provision of neighborhood open 

space and recreation areas in new residential 

developments and within existing neighborhoods, 

where possible. 

R 1.B. Ensure neighborhoods are connected to parks 

and recreation facilities in and around the city.

goal 2: Community identity:
R 2.A. Ensure residents are connected to downtown and 

other commercial areas.

R 2.B. Encourage residents to use non-motorized 

transportation options for recreation as well as 

for accessing goods, services, and community 

activities.

R 2.C. Incorporate local art and culture into recreation 

facilities and programming.

R 2.D. Incorporate open space and recreation facilities 

with non-residential development

Map 12. Brighton: ten-Minute Walk to Park Radius, 2018

BRIGHTON COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 

Map R-4: TEN-MINUTE WALK RADIUS 

130



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewRecreation Plan

      60 September 2023

goal 3: Environmental Stewardship
R 3.A. Ensure that the city’s parks and open spaces are maintained in an environmentally sound manner, which includes 

managing invasive species, protecting wildlife habitats, and planting native species that minimize water needs and 

maintenance. 

R 3.B. Encourage environmental education through interpretive signage and demonstration projects within city parks and 

other civic facilities. 

goal 4: infrastructure and Civic Spaces
R 4.A. Maintain and improve existing parks facilities for accessibility, safety, and enjoyment for people of all ages and abilities.  

R 4.B. Explore opportunities to add more parks and recreational amenities throughout the city. 

R 4.C. Enhance recreation opportunities and access to water resources, including the Millpond and Brighton Lake.

goal 5: Economic Development
R 5.A. Explore opportunities to partner with businesses on park improvements, expansions, amenities, and programming. 

R 5.B. Encourage recreation-focused businesses to locate and expand in the city, which is in proximity to a wide variety of 

parks and recreation facilities.

In addition to these goals and objectives, the Plan includes a list of corresponding actions to meet the objectives, and ultimately 

achieve the vision established in the planning goals.

opportunities for an Update

The Administrative Structure section should be updated 

to reflect the current budget and any administrative 

changes which may have occurred since 2018.

The Parks Inventory, Barrier Free Assessment, and 

Recreational Needs Analysis sections should be updated 

to reflect current conditions. 

The information used to draft Parks and Recreation goals 

and objectives was based on community priorities in 

2018. Updated community engagement efforts could 

better reflect current priorities for parks and recreation 

in the city.

Questions to Consider

1. What changes have been made to the city’s parks

and recreation facilities and programming since

the last Parks and Recreation Plan update? Has

accessibility improved?

2. What types of parks and recreation amenities are

in-demand that were not addressed in the last

plan?

3. How have changing demographics had an impact

on the types of visitors who use the city’s parks

and recreation facilities? How can changes in

design, amenities, and offerings match the needs

of these groups?



      61

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

implementation
The 2018 Comprehensive Plan contained an implementation matrix designed to show how the goals of the Comprehensive 

Plan are fulfilled by the action strategies of the Future Land Use Plan, Complete Streets Plan, Downtown Plan and Parks and 

Recreation Plan.

Provided in the pages that follow are the action strategies for each plan goal with the lead body and supporting partners as a 

well as right-most column that indicates progress made on implementation since plan adoption.

table 11. implementation Action Strategy types

Action Strategy type Description

Zoning These are items requiring zoning amendments and will generally be led by staff and the Planning Commission. 

Advocacy

These will be items involving education of the community, including residents, business owners, property 
owners, developers and design professionals. They will be led by a combination of staff, boards and 
commissions. This may also involve the city staff and officials working with county and state officials to 
coordinate plans and funding, as appropriate. 

Capital improvement 
These items involve large capital investments, such as equipment, projects or studies, that require inclusion 
into the city’s Capital Improvement Plans (CIPs) in order to determine the most efficient time and method of 
completion and may involve multiple municipal departments.

other 
Other items may involve research, study, and further evaluation by staff and/or other boards and 
commissions.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      62 September 2023

table 12. Quality and Variety of housing Action Strategies, 2018

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

Zoning items
Z.1 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow for

medium-high density housing in and near 
downtown.

PC City Administration Created the R-5 zoning district 
to provide for missing middle 
housing types near downtown

Z.2 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to require internal
connections within housing developments and 
external connections to adjacent development.

PC City Administration

Z.3 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to require open
space within housing developments.

PC City Administration

Z.4 Evaluate areas of the City where zoning standards
restrict redevelopment of existing homes. 
Consider zoning amendments that facilitate 
home renovations and expansions in a context-
appropriate manner.

PC City Administration Some minor amendments to 
allow for garages/accessory 
buildings on smaller lots to be 
closer to side/rear lot lines

Z.5 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to require
neighborhood open space and recreation facilities 
with all new residential developments in the city.

PC City Administration

Advocacy
A.1 Provide resources, including home improvements,

social services, and transportation options, for 
aging residents that allow them to age in place.

CC City Administration

A.2 Support homeowners efforts to maintain existing
housing stock throughout the city by providing 
resources and information on financing and home 
improvement tips.

CC City Administration

A.3 Promote policies and programs to make housing
more accessible to the elderly and mobility 
challenged individuals.

CC City Administration

A.4 Work with homeowners’ associations on
maintenance plans for existing and future open 
spaces and recreational facilities.

CC City Administration

A.5 Consider incentives for the development of new
housing downtown (see NextSteps Assessment 
for additional recommendations on housing).

DDA City Administration

Capital improvement 
C.1 Continue public investment in new and existing

pathways, sidewalks, parks, roads, and street 
trees to improve the quality of life in existing 
neighborhoods.

CC City Administration Sidewalk improvements 
are ongoing throughout 
the City, including installing 
new sidewalks at gaps.  
Reconstruction plan for major 
and local streets implemented. 
Numerous streets have been 
improved.          

C.2 Improve existing non-motorized facilities, including
sidewalks and pathways, particularly those in 
residential areas.

CC City Administration The shared use pathway 
and sidewalk network are 
being completed with new 
development.



      63

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

C.3 Implement new non-motorized facilities and
connections.

CC City Administration

C.4 Continue to develop the pedestrian passages
system downtown by connecting pedestrian 
sidewalks that are parallel to public roads to 
parking facilities and other destinations.

DDA City Administration Ongoing

other 
O.1 Explore opportunities to acquire land within

existing neighborhoods for parks and open 
spaces.

CC City Administration



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      64 September 2023

table 13. Community identity Action Strategies, 2018

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

Zoning items
Z.1 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as

needed to require high quality building materials 
and design standards for all new development.

PC City Administration The zoning ordinance has been 
amended for the downtown 
business district.

Z.2 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to encourage preservation and reuse of 
historic structures.

PC City Administration

Z.3 Create a form-based for downtown that promotes
the historic character of downtown and enhances 
the pedestrian experience.

PC City Administration, 
DDA

The downtown business district 
has been updated with form-
based standards that allow 
new development within the 
context of existing buildings.

Z.4 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to require
installation of approved street furnishing with 
new development, based on findings from “Other 
Action Items,” that follow.

PC City Administration, 
DDA

Z.5 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to ensure creative and appropriate uses 
and building designs can be achieved downtown.

PC City Administration, 
DDA

The downtown business district 
has been updated with form-
based standards that allow 
new development within the 
context of existing buildings.

Advocacy
A.1 Establish architectural design, signage, and

landscaping of key entryway features at the city’s 
borders.

ACC City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA

A.2 Maintain and expand support for the arts and
cultural resources in the city.

ACC City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA

A.3 Provide resources that allow enforcement of
ordinances that ensure high quality development.

CC City Administration

A.4 When downtown property is developed or
redeveloped, explore opportunities to link the front 
and back of the building by pedestrian passages 
that are open to the public.

DDA City Administration, 
PC

The downtown business district 
has been updated with form-
based standards that allow 
new development within the 
context of existing buildings.

Capital improvement 
C.1 Continue to develop the pedestrian passages

system downtown by connecting pedestrian 
sidewalks that are parallel to public roads to 
parking facilities and other destinations to 
supplement the traditional sidewalk system and 
make the downtown more pedestrian-friendly.

City Administration CC, DDA

C.2 Create a wayfinding plan that identifies key
destinations in the city, distances/time to popular 
destinations.

ACC City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA

A wayfinding plan was 
completed in 2023.

C.3 Implement the city’s wayfinding plan. City Administration CC, DDA



      65

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

other 
O.1 Conduct a study to determine which bicycle

routes can be signed and officially designated.
City Administration CC, DDA

O.2 Identify placement for placemaking elements
along pedestrian and bicycle routes to improve 
the non-motorized experience, including: 
benches, trash receptacles, and more.

City Administration CC, DDA, ACC, PC

O.3 Enhance public art throughout the non-motorized
network.

ACC City Administration, 
CC

O.4 Promote art in city parks and recreation areas. ACC City Administration, 
CC

O.5 Develop arts-related recreational programming
that includes  the Brighton Arts & Culture 
Commission, the Brighton Arts Center, and other 
local arts and culture partners.

ACC City Administration, 
CC

The BACC continues its yearly 
events program.

O.6 Identify standards for street furnishings and
lighting that vary according to placement 
(downtown elements may differ from elements 
along shared use paths).

City Administration CC, DDA

O.7 Develop a marketing strategy for the city’s non-
motorized transportation network, illustrating the 
connections between residential areas, parks, and 
commercial areas.

City Administration CC, DDA

O.8 Explore other Downtown Action items as provided
in the NextSteps Assessment.

DDA City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA

A streetscape project is 
underway.



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      66 September 2023

table 14. Environmental Stewardship Action Strategies, 2018

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

Zoning items
Z.1 Amend the Zoning Ordinance to allow alternative

energy systems.
PC City Administration

Z.2 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to protect, enhance and restore the city’s 
woodlands, wetlands, water features, habitats 
and open spaces.

PC City Administration

Z.3 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to enhance stormwater management 
standards and promote low-impact development.

PC City Administration

Z.4 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to add and/or improve standards that 
encourage energy-efficient and environmentally 
sustainable development.

PC City Administration

Z.5 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to update lighting standards to lower 
energy demand and light pollution.

PC City Administration

Advocacy
A.1 Educate residents, business owners and

developers on the benefits of green building 
techniques, sustainable design best management 
practices and energy conservation strategies by 
developing educational materials.

CC City Administration

A.2 Explore ways to incentivize approaches that
improve environmental sustainability throughout 
the city.

CC City Administration

A.3 Create educational materials that describe the
environmental benefits of non-motorized travel.

City Administration CC, DDA

A.4 Work with local environmental partners to
promote activities and programs involving cycling 
and walking.

City Administration CC, DDA

Capital improvement 
C.1 Develop educational interpretive signage into the

non-motorized network.
City Administration CC, ACC

C.2 Update signage periodically to keep information
fresh and interesting.

City Administration CC, ACC

C.3 Create educational materials that describe the
environmental benefits of non-motorized travel.

City Administration CC, ACC

C.4 Work with local environmental partners to
promote activities and programs involving cycling 
and walking.

City Administration CC



      67

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

other 
O.1 Adopt a Best Practices Policy for Parks and

Recreation to help guide future maintenance of 
parks and open spaces in an environmentally-
friendly manner.

City Administration CC

O.2 Explore the creation of a “Friends of Brighton’s
Parks” volunteer group to assist with identification 
and removal of invasive species and identification 
and protection strategies for wildlife habitats.

City Administration CC

O.3 Partner with Brighton Schools and local
environmental professionals to understand 
important environmental issues in the city and 
region and make recommendations for educating 
parks and recreation users.

City Administration CC

O.4 Develop an interpretive signage program based
on the above findings and recommendations.

City Administration CC

O.5 Develop demonstration projects at city
parks based on the above findings and 
recommendation.

City Administration CC



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      68 September 2023

table 15. infrastructure and Civic Spaces Action Strategies, 2018

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

Zoning items
Z.1 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance

as needed to require improve access and 
connectivity throughout the city.

PC City Administration

Advocacy
A.1 Develop a seasonal program that includes needed

resources for the ongoing maintenance of civic 
spaces.

City Administration CC

A.2 Update the city’s Capital Improvement
Plan annually and ensure items from the 
Comprehensive Plan are included.

City Administration CC, PC, DDA The Capital Improvement Plan 
is updated annually.

A.3 Keep the Comprehensive Plan, Future Land Use
Plan, Recreation Plan, Complete Streets Plan, 
and Downtown Plan updated.

City Administration CC, PC, DDA The Capital Improvement Plan 
is updated annually.

A.4 Identify long-term funding sources for maintaining
the city’s infrastructure.

City Administration CC The Capital Improvement Plan 
is updated annually.

A.5 Adopt a Complete Streets policy that establishes
non-motorized transportation as a policy priority, 
reflecting that the city will consider opportunities 
for improvement non-motorized connections and 
facilities whenever new construction projects take 
place.

CC City Administration The city adopted by resolution 
a Complete Streets Policy in 
2021.

Capital improvement 
C.1 Prioritize implementation phases of the non-

motorized network.
CC City Administration

C.2 Incorporate AV and Complete Streets planning
and implementation into the city’s 6-year Capital 
Improvements Program.

CC City Administration

C.3 Create connections to the non-motorized network
when upgrading and adding new civic uses and 
spaces.

CC City Administration

C.4 Include autonomous vehicles (AV’s) as part of
Complete Streets implementation.  Prioritize 
bike lanes and other non-motorized facilities 
within existing road right-of-way.  In many cases, 
implementation may require little more than 
restriping and new signage. 

CC City Administration

C.5 Incorporate network communications
infrastructure when reconstructing roads and 
making other capital expenditures.

CC City Administration



      69

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

C.6 Using the Complete Streets Plan, fill in the non-
motorized transportation network gaps between 
residential areas and downtown.

CC City Administration

C.7 Maintain and improve existing parks facilities for
accessibility, safety, and enjoyment for people of 
all ages and abilities as provided in the Rec Plan.

CC City Administration

other 
O.1 Pursue appropriate funding assistance for

the planned pedestrian, bicycle, and shared 
use facilities.  Where shared use paths are 
constructed on one side of the road only, they 
should be wide enough to accommodate two-
way traffic.

City Administration CC

O.2 When new road design and private development
projects are proposed downtown, explore how 
staging areas (for pick-up and drop-off) can 
be created along and away from Main Street. 
Establish larger staging areas for pickup / dropoff 
by AV’s and ridesharing services (Uber / Lyft) in 
downtown fringe areas. 

City Administration CC, PC, DDA

O.3 Identify areas in which parks and recreation
facilities may be needed and evaluate a strategy 
acquiring parks and open spaces.

City Administration CC, PC

O.4 Explore development of accessible canoe/kayak
launch facilities at the Millpond and Brighton Lake.

City Administration CC

O.5 Explore opportunities to offer additional water-
related recreation amenities, including facilities for 
shore-fishing.

City Administration CC

O.6 Explore other Downtown Action items as provided
in the NextSteps Assessment.

DDA City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      70 September 2023

table 16. Economic Development Action Strategies, 2018

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

Zoning items
Z.1 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as

needed to provide flexibility in the redevelopment 
of obsolete or under-performing buildings and 
sites.

PC City Administration Zoning map amended, 
changing C4 district to C2, 
creating a wider scope of 
development.

Z.2 Review and amend the Zoning Ordinance as
needed to ensure the development review 
process is as efficient and effective as possible.

PC City Administration Completed with 2017 zoning 
ordinance update. 

Z.3 Amend the Zoning Ordinance by creating a new
Innovation District that supports the growth 
and development of leading-edge research, 
technology, and light manufacturing businesses.

PC City Administration

Z.4 Amend the Zoning Ordinance as needed to
ensure intent, uses and development standards 
are in alignment with the Future Land Use Plan.

PC City Administration

Z.5 Require electric vehicle charging station conduits
in both public and private parking lots so that 
charging stations can be added as demand 
increase without the need to tear up surface or 
structured parking lots.

Z.6 Modify the zoning ordinance to authorize some
administrative flexibility to modify parking, loading, 
and circulation-related standards during plan 
review with linked to standard industry best 
practices.

Completed with 2017 zoning 
ordinance update. The Planning 
Commission has utilized this 
flexibility in recent site plan 
recommendations.

Advocacy
A.1 Explore ways to incentivize approaches that

improve environmental sustainability throughout 
the city.

CC City Administration

A.2 Work with property owners to provide information
on available properties on the city’s website.

CC City Administration City initiated a 3-year contract 
with SPARK for an Economic 
Development Coordinator.

A.3 Create marketing materials to attract new
businesses to the city.

CC City Administration City initiated a 3-year contract 
with SPARK for an Economic 
Development Coordinator.

A.4 Work with local businesses to encourage non-
motorized travel. This may include offering delivery 
services for shoppers who make purchases and 
are traveling on foot and by bicycle.

City Administration CC, PC

A.5 Identify opportunities to encourage and establish
training opportunities for jobs that are related to 
the growing AV industry.  Target these facilities in 
appropriate zoning districts.

City Administration CC, PC

Capital improvement 
[None]



      71

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Implementation

Action Strategy Lead Body
Supporting 

Partners
Current Progress

other 
O.1 Monitor AV trends and usage in the city. When

appropriate, modify minimum parking space 
requirements and parking space and lane 
standards to respond to changing demand.

City Administration CC, PC

O.2 Create walking maps that illustrate the
convenience and pleasant experience people 
have traveling on foot in and around downtown.

DDA City Administration Created a downtown guide 
brochure that includes maps 
and directories of businesses, 
events and parking.

O.3 Maintain communications with AV industry
professional and monitor trends so the other city 
policies and practices can be adjusted, rescinded 
or added as necessary to respond to changes in 
technology.

City Administration CC, PC

O.4 Work with local businesses to explore
a sponsorship program for various park 
improvements and programs.

City Administration CC, PC

O.5 Create a recognition program to highlight and
show appreciation for recreation partners in the 
business community.

City Administration CC, PC

O.6 Create a business retention and recruitment
program that focuses on recreation-based 
business development.

City Administration CC, PC City initiated a 3-year contract 
with SPARK for an Economic 
Development Coordinator.

O.7 Create a promotional program to raise awareness
with city residents about recreation-related 
businesses that are based in the city.

City Administration CC, PC

O.8 Explore other Downtown Action items as provided
in the NextSteps Assessment.

DDA City Administration, 
CC, PC, DDA



City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan ReviewImplementation

      72 September 2023

This page has been left intentionally blank.



      73

City of Brighton | Comprehensive Plan Review

September 2023

Next Steps

next Steps
The Michigan Planning Enabling Act (MPEA) requires communities to review their Master Plans every five years. However, this does 

not imply that an update is necessary. The city’s 2018 Comprehensive Plan retains many elements that are likely still consistent 

with the community’s vision for the future, but there are some opportunities to update the plan to reflect today’s opportunities 

and challenges. The Planning Commission may wish to discuss this report and consider whether an update is needed and 

what types of information (data gathering, trend research, public input, etc.) may be valuable based on the recommendations 

included in this review.

The Planning Commission may accept this report as its five-year review and reaffirm the 2018 Comprehensive Plan. Alternatively, 

if the Planning Commission finds areas of the plan need to be reviewed further and potentially updated, then the development 

of a work program for the update will be helpful in ensuring the update stays focused.





City of Brighton 
City Hall Council Chambers 

200 N. First St. Brighton, MI 48116 
Planning Commission  

Regular Meeting Minutes  
September 18, 2023 

1. Call to Order/Roll Call
Commissioner Hundley called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Commissioners Present: Ken Schmenk, Chuck Hundley, Jim Bohn, Susan Gardner, James Johnston, and 
Chris Passeri. 
Commissioners Absent: Matt Smith, Dave Petrak, and Steve Monet 
Others present: Gretchen Gomolka, City Manager; Mike Caruso, Community Development Manager; Jill 
Bahm and Julia Upfal, Giffels Webster; Kelly Haataja, Executive Assistant to Community Development; 
and an audience of one person. 

Motion by Commissioner Gardner, seconded by Commissioner Passeri, to excuse Commissioners Smith, 
Petrak, and Monet for personal reasons. The motion carried without objection. 

2. Consider Approval of Consent Agenda Items
Consent Agenda Items 

a. Approval of the May 15, 2023, Regular Meeting Minutes
b. Approval of the September 18, 2023, Agenda

Motion by Commissioner Bohn, seconded by Commissioner Schmenk to approve the Consent Agenda 
as presented. The motion carried without objection. 

3. Call to the Public
Commissioner Hundley opened the Call to the Public at 7:01 p.m. Hearing and seeing no comments, the
Call to the Public was closed at 7:01 p.m.

Unfinished Business 
None 

New Business 

4. Commencement of 5-year Master Plan review
Ms. Bahm provided an overview of the Planning Commissions role in the preparation, adoption, and five-
year Master Plan review. She offered numerous items for the Commission to consider during their review,
such as aging community, arts & culture, attainable housing, healthy community, complete streets,
recreation, employment opportunities, sustainability, and resiliency. She suggested assessing the data
previously collected and reviewing the goals and objectives to determine if they’re being met, if they are
still accurate, or if they should be updated.

The Commissioners discussed code enforcement, allowable building types, parking locations, and set 
another review date for their November 20, 2023, meeting. 

5. Discussion of Zoning Ordinance amendments
Mr. Caruso discussed parking space requirements, general parking requirements, accessory structure
height limit, and window coverage as items of concern that could be addressed through Zoning
amendments.



City of Brighton 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
September 18, 2023 

The board had an exchange of views and directed staff to evaluate and research the topics further and 
bring back to a future meeting for further discussion. 

Other Business  
None 

6. Staff Updates
Mr. Caruso officially introduced the newest Planning Commissioner, James Johnston, to the
Commission. Thereafter, he announced the demolition permit has been issued for the Lindbom site,
and work is presumed to start within the next week.

7. Commissioner Report
Commissioner Hundley asked for better clean-up in the streets at the El Car Wash and Vista at Uptown
construction sites.

8. Call to the Public
Commissioner Hundley opened the Call to the Public at 8:47 p.m. Hearing and seeing no comments,
the Call to the Public was closed at 8:47 p.m.

9. Adjournment
Motion by Commissioner Passeri, seconded by Commissioner Schmenk to adjourn the meeting at 8:48
p.m. The motion carried without objection.

Drafted by: 
Kelly Haataja, Assistant to the Community Development Manager 



memorandum 
DATE: November 16, 2023 

TO:  Michael Caruso, Community Development Manager 

FROM: Jill Bahm, AICP and Julia Upfal, AICP, Giffels Webster 

SUBJECT: Discussion – Comprehensive Plan Review 

Recap of Previous Discussion 
At the September 18, 2023 meeting, the Planning Commission discussed the Comprehensive Plan 5-year 
review report. Key themes of the discussion included: 

• Housing
o It’s important to attract and retain families – should housing be permitted to be taller to fit

larger homes?
o Provide housing for all ages and strive for attainable housing
o Understand all the costs associated with the development of housing, including tap

fees/utilities
o Explore refinement of the zoning standards for multi-family and missing middle housing;

address concerns over the limited housing types on smaller parcels.
• Parking: evaluate non-residential parking standards with an eye to reduce requirements; control

parking on public lots/streets
• Community aesthetics and redevelopment opportunities: improve appearance of buildings and

ensure redevelopment opportunities are available and appropriately zoned.

Follow Up 
Planning Commissioners also provided additional thoughts after the meeting, to be discussed further at 
the November 20, 2023 meeting. There were some items that could be addressed fairly easily as zoning 
updates: 

• Lot coverage (lower)
• Accessory structure – type, size and use

Other items are better to explore through a planning process with community input. These focused on:: 

• Housing:
o Short-term rentals
o Accessory structures/dwellings
o Higher density residential in specific areas (including Challis Road and around

downtown)
o Clarify low, medium and high density residential

• Downtown and beyond: Explore the logical “rings” for downtown and how can the plan and zoning
better guide development.

• Sustainability: Define and show examples of low impact development
• Non-Motorized Transportation Plan/Complete Streets: Update plans to address wider roads and

wider shared use paths to support walkers and bicyclists. Specific example of Brighton Lake
Road (Fairways Trails to Northern Ridge Drive); understand and plan for e-bikes.

• Recreation Plan: Explore community park on Orndorf Drive (city-owned parcel)



Next Steps 
The Planning Commission may wish to proceed with a Comprehensive Plan Update that focuses in on: 

• Housing – What kinds? How much? Where?
• Downtown and beyond – what is the boundary of downtown and where is the next ring? This

does not necessarily need to be a rigid line, but should provide clear guidance for policy. Explore
design guidelines for areas beyond downtown that reflect the high quality design and materials
seen downtown.

• Sustainability – How can the City be responsive and proactive in terms of balancing the needs
of the community, business community and natural resources?

• Placemaking – consider incorporating a public art framework to support activities of the
community.

• Complete Streets – Refine and update to reflect e-bikes and potential new/expanded routes.
• Recreation – update the plan to be consistent with the DNR’s standards and keep qualified for

recreation grants.



City of Brighton 
City Hall Council Chambers 

200 N. First St. Brighton, MI 48116 
Planning Commission  

Regular Meeting Minutes  
November 20, 2023 

1. Call to order/roll call
Commissioner Smith called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

Commissioners present: Susan Gardner, Chuck Hundley, Steve Monet, Chris Passeri, Dave Petrak, Ken 
Schmenk, Matt Smith, and Jim Bohn. 
Commissioners absent: Jim Johnston 
Others present: Mike Caruso, Community Development Manager; Kelly Haataja, Assistant to the 
Community Development Manager; Jill Bahm and Julia Upfal, Giffels Webster; and an audience of one 
person. 

Motion by Commissioner Gardner, seconded by Commissioner Passeri, to excuse Commissioner Johnston 
for personal reasons. The motion carried without objection. 

2. Consider approval of consent agenda items
Consent Agenda Items 

a. Approval of the November 6, 2023, regular meeting minutes
b. Approval of the November 20, 2023, agenda

Motion by Commissioner Bohn, seconded by Commissioner Petrak to approve an amended agenda 
with the addition of 5a. consider approval of 2024 proposed meeting dates. The motion carried 
without objection. 

3. Call to the public
Commissioner Smith opened the Call to the Public at 7:02 p.m. Hearing and seeing no comments, the Call
to the Public closed at 7:02 p.m.

New Business 
4. 5-year Master Plan review
The following items were discussed:

- Style of buildings fitting neighborhoods and architectural feature regulations.

- Overregulating and maintaining diversity.

- Zero side-yard setback in the R-5 zoning district.

- Aging population.

- Housing refinement in the R-5 zoning district.

- Accessory dwelling units.

- Parking regulations.

- Mapping ideas for what is considered adjacent to downtown.

- Defining downtown.

- Increasing lot coverage in some R-1 district areas.

5. Liaison appointment to the Zoning Board of Appeals
The Commissioners opted to discuss it at a future meeting when all Commissioners are present.



City of Brighton 
Planning Commission 
Regular Meeting Minutes 
November 20, 2023 

5a.  Consider approval of 2024 proposed meeting dates 
Motion by Commissioner Petrak, seconded by Commissioner Monet to approve the 2024 meeting 
dates as presented. The motion carried without objection. 

Other Business 
None 

6. Staff updates
None

7. Commissioner report
None

8. Call to the public
Commissioner Smith opened the call to the public at 8:54 p.m.

Susan Bakhaus stated a commissioner used profanity during the meeting. 

Hearing and seeing no further comments, the call to the public was closed at 8:55 p.m. 

9. Adjournment
Motion by Commissioner Petrak, seconded by Commissioner Bohn to adjourn the meeting at 8:55 p.m.
The motion carried without objection.

Drafted by: 
Kelly Haataja, Assistant to the Community Development Manager 


	Agenda
	Staff report
	Comprehensive Plan Review Intro - Giffels Webster
	Opportunities for an update
	Master Land Use Plan
	Future Land Uses in Neighboring Communities
	Future Land Use Plan and Map
	Future Land Use Categories
	Current Zoning Map
	Redevelopment sites
	Complete Streets Plan
	Downtown Plan
	Recreation Plan
	Implementation
	Next Steps
	9/18/2023 PC Meeting Minutes
	11/16/23 Giffels Webster Memorandum
	11/20/2023 PC Meeting Minutes



